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PREFACE

This publication, issued by the Accounting and Review Services Commit-
tee (ARSC), is a codification of Statements on Standards for Accounting and
Review Services (SSARSs), and the related accounting and review interpreta-
tions. ARSC is the senior technical committee of the AICPA designated to issue
enforceable standards in connection with the unaudited financial statements
or other unaudited financial information of a nonpublic entity.

SSARSSs are issued by senior technical bodies of the AICPA designated to is-
sue pronouncements on accounting and review matters. Rule 202, Compliance
With Standards (AICPA, Professional Standards, ET sec. 202 par. .01), of the
AICPA Code of Professional Conduct requires an AICPA member who performs
compilations or reviews to comply with such pronouncements. An accountant
is required to comply with an unconditional requirement in all cases in which
the circumstances exist to which the unconditional requirement applies. An ac-
countant is also required to comply with a presumptively mandatory require-
ment in all cases in which the circumstances exist to which the presumptively
mandatory requirement applies; however, in rare circumstances, the accoun-
tant may depart from a presumptively mandatory requirement provided that
the accountant documents his or her justification for the departure and how
the alternative procedures performed in the circumstances were sufficient to
achieve the objectives of the presumptively mandatory requirement.

Accounting and review interpretations are recommendations on the appli-
cation of SSARSSs in specific circumstances, including engagements for entities
in specialized industries, issued under the authority of AICPA senior technical
bodies. An interpretation is not as authoritative as a pronouncement; how-
ever, if an accountant does not apply an accounting and review interpretation,
the accountant should be prepared to explain how he or she complied with the
SSARS provisions addressed by such accounting and review interpretation. The
specific terms used to define professional requirements in the SSARSs are not
intended to apply to interpretations because interpretations are not accounting
and review standards.

ACCOUNTING AND REVIEW
SERVICES COMMITTEE

Michael Brand, Chair
Michael P. Glynn, Senior Technical Manager—
Audit and Attest Standards






What’s New in This Edition

WHAT’S NEW IN THIS EDITION

Section Change
AR section 80 Revisions due to the issuance of Statement on

Quality Control Standards (SQCS) No. 8, A Firm's
System of Quality Control (QC sec. 10).
AR section 90 Revisions due to the issuance of SQCS No. 8;

revisions due to the issuance of Statement on
Auditing Standards (SAS) Nos. 122-126.

AR section 200 Revisions due to the issuance of SAS Nos. 122-126.
AR section 9080 Revisions due to the issuance of International
Standard on Related Services 4410 (Revised).
AR section 9090 Revisions due to the issuance of International
Standard on Review Engagements 2400 (Revised).
AR section 9200 Revisions due to the issuance of SAS Nos. 122-126.
AR section 9300 Revisions due to the issuance of SAS Nos. 122-126.
AR section 9400 Revisions due to the issuance of SAS Nos. 122-126.
AR section 9600 Revisions due to the issuance of SAS Nos. 122-126.
AR Exhibit A Revisions due to the issuance of Statement on

Standards for Accounting and Review Services No.
19, Framework for Performing and Reporting on
Compilation and Review Engagements.
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How This Book Is Organized

HOW THIS BOOK IS ORGANIZED

The AR sections include accounting and review services standards issued
through SSARS No. 20, Revised Applicability of Statements on Standards for
Accounting and Review Services. Superseded portions have been deleted, and
all applicable amendments have been included. These sections are arranged as
follows:

AR Cross-References to SSARSs

Framework for Performing and Reporting on Compilation and
Review Engagements

Compilation of Financial Statements
Review of Financial Statements

Compilation of Specified Elements, Accounts, or Items of a
Financial Statement

Compilation of Pro Forma Financial Information
Reporting on Comparative Financial Statements

Compilation Reports on Financial Statements Included in Certain
Prescribed Forms

Communications Between Predecessor and Successor Accountants

Reporting on Personal Financial Statements Included in Written
Personal Financial Plans

Exhibits
Appendixes
Topical Index

The AR Cross-References to SSARSs is a list of all issued SSARSs and a list
of sources of sections in the current text.

The standards are divided into sections, each with its own section number.
Each paragraph within a section is decimally numbered.

Accounting and review services interpretations are numbered in the 9000
series with the last three digits indicating the section to which the interpre-
tation relates. Interpretations immediately follow their corresponding section.
For example, interpretations related to section 200 are numbered 9200, which
directly follows section 200.

There are two exhibits related to accounting and review services standards
as follows:

Exhibit A illustrates how an accountant might document expectations
in a review engagement.

Exhibit B helps practitioners better understand the accounting con-
cepts of going concern in performing a compilation or review engage-
ment.

Exhibit C is deleted.

There are two appendixes related to accounting and review services stan-
dards as follows:

Appendix A is reserved.

Appendix B outlines the disposition of interpretations to section 100
as a result of changes made to conform to Statement on Standards



How This Book Is Organized

for Accounting and Review Services No. 19, Compilation and Review
Engagements.

Appendix C provides a schedule of changes in Statements on Stan-
dards for Accounting and Review Services beginning with the issuance
of Statement on Standards for Accounting and Review Services No. 1,
Compilation and Review of Financial Statements.

The AR topical index uses the keyword method to facilitate reference to the
pronouncements. The index is arranged alphabetically by topic and refers to
major divisions, sections, and paragraph numbers.




Cross-References to SSARSs

AR Cross-References to SSARSs

Statements on Stand*ards for Accounting
and Review Services

Date Issued

Title

Section

Dec. 1978

Compilation and Review of Financial
Statements [Superseded, December
2010, by SSARS No. 19.]

Oct. 1979

Reporting on Comparative
Financial Statements

200

Dec. 1981

Compilation Reports on Financial
Statements Included in Certain
Prescribed Forms!

300

Dec. 1981

Communications Between
Predecessor and Successor
Accountants?

400

July 1982

Reporting on Compiled Financial
Statements [Deleted, November 1992, by
SSARS No. 7.3

Sept. 1986

Reporting on Personal Financial
Statements Included in Written
Personal Financial Plans

600

Nowv. 1992

Omnibus Statement on Standards
for Accounting and Review
Services—1992*

Oct. 2000

Amendment to Statement on Standards
for Accounting and Review Services No.
1, Compilation and Review of Financial
Statements

Nowv. 2002

Omnibus Statement on Standards
for Accounting and Review
Services—2002°

10

May 2004

Performance of Review Engagements

11

May 2004

Standards for Accounting and Review
Services [Superseded, December 2010,
by SSARS No. 19.]¢

(continued)

“ Pronouncements in effect are indicated in boldface type.

1 SSARS No. 3 amends section 200.02.

2 SSARS No. 4 amends section 200.16.

3 The provisions of SSARS No. 5 have been incorporated into section 300

4 SSARS No. 7 has been integrated to amend sections 200, 300, and 400; SSARS No. 7 also deletes
SSARS No. 5.

5 SSARS No. 9 amends sections 400.01—.06 and 400.08—.10, deletes section 400.07, and adds
sections 400.11-.12.

6 SSARS No. 11 amends section 200.17.



Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services

No. Date Issued Title Section
12 July 2005 Omnibus Statement on Standards
for Accounting and Review
Services—20057

13 July 2005 Compilation of Specified Elements, 110
Accounts, or Items of a Financial
Statement

14 July 2005 Compilation of Pro Forma Financial | 120
Information

15 July 2007 Elimination of Certain References
to Statements on Auditing
Standards and Incorporation of
Appropriate Guidance Into
Statements on Standards for
Accounting and Review Services®

16 Dec. 2007 Defining Professional Requirements in
Statements on Standards for Accounting
and Review Services [Superseded,
December 2010, by SSARS No. 19.]

17 Feb. 2008 Omnibus Statement on Standards
for Accounting and Review
Services—2008°

18 Feb. 2009 Applicability of Statements on
Standards for Accounting and Review
Services

19 Dec. 2009 Compilation and Review 60, 80,
Engagements'® and

90

20 Feb. 2011 Revised Applicability of Statements
on Standards for Accounting and
Review Services!!

7 SSARS No. 12 amends sections 200.25-.26 and adds section 200.27 (subsequent paragraphs
and footnotes have been renumbered accordingly).

8 SSARS No. 15 amends section 200.05, section 300.01, and section 400.09.

9 SSARS No. 17 amends section 110.15; section 120.18; sections 200.01, .29, and .33; sections
300.01-.03; and section 400.01.

10 SSARS No. 19 supersedes sections 20, 50, and 100.
11 SSARS No. 20 amends section 90.01.



Cross-References to SSARSs

Sources of Sections in Current Text

AR Section Contents Source

60 Framework for Performing and Reporting | SSARS No. 19
on Compilation and Review Engagements

80 Compilation of Financial Statements SSARS No. 19

920 Review of Financial Statements SSARS No. 19

110 Compilation of Specified Elements, SSARS No. 13
Accounts, or Items of a Financial
Statement

120 Compilation of Pro Forma Financial SSARS No. 14
Information

200 Reporting on Comparative Financial SSARS No. 2
Statements

300 Compilation Reports on Financial SSARS No. 3
Statements Included in Certain Prescribed
Forms

400 Communications Between Predecessor SSARS No. 4
and Successor Accountants

600 Reporting on Personal Financial SSARS No. 6
Statements Included in Written Personal
Financial Plans
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AR Section

STATEMENTS ON STANDARDS FOR
ACCOUNTING AND REVIEW SERVICES

Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARS)
are issued by the AICPA Accounting and Review Services Committee
(ARSC), the senior committee of the AICPA designated to issue pro-
nouncements in connection with the unaudited financial statements or
other unaudited financial information of a nonpublic entity. Council has
designated ARSC as a body to establish technical standards under Rule
202 of the AICPA's Code of Professional Conduct (ET sec. 202 par. 01).

Interpretations are issued to provide guidance on the application
of SSARS. Interpretations are issued after all members of ARSC have
been provided an opportunity to consider and comment on whether the
proposed interpretation is consistent with SSARS. An interpretation is
not as authoritative as a SSARS, but members should be aware that
they may have to justify a departure from an interpretation if the qual-
ity of their work is questioned.

Section

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Paragraph
Defining Professional Requirements in Statements on Standards
for Accounting and Review Services [Superseded,
December 2010, by the issuance of SSARS No. 19.]
Standards for Accounting and Review Services [Superseded,
December 2010, by the issuance of SSARS No. 19.]
Framework for Performing and Reporting on Compilation
and Review Engagements .01-51
INfrodUuction ... .01-.03
Relevant Definitions .......... ... .04
Obijectives and Limitations of Compilation and Review
Engagements ... ... .05-.08
Professional Requirements ................ccccvviiiiiiii... .09-.14
Requirements ... ... i .09-.11
Explanatory Material ....................o 12-.14
Hierarchy of Compilation and Review Standards
and Guidance ... 15-25
Compilation and Review Standards ................... 1517

Contents



8 Table of Contents

Section

60 Framework for Performing and Reporting on Compilation
and Review Engagements—continued

Interpretative Publications .....................
Other Compilation and Review Publications ...........
Ethical Principles and Quality Control Standards ......
Elements of a Compilation or Review Engagement ...........
Three Party Relationship ........................... ..
An Applicable Financial Reporting Framework ........
Financial Statement or Financial Information ..........
Evidence ...
Compilation and Review Reports .....................
Materiality ...
Effective Date .......ovuuiii

80 Compilation of Financial Statements
Establishing an Understanding .............ccoooiiiii...
Compilation Performance Requirements .....................
Understanding of the Industry ....................o..
Knowledge of the Client .......................oil.
Reading the Financial Statements .....................
Other Compilation Procedures ........................
Documentation in a Compilation Engagement ...............
Reporting on the Financial Statements .......................

Reporting on Financial Statements That Omit
Substantially All Disclosures .......................

Reporting When the Accountant Is Not Independent ...

Accountant’s Communications With the Client
When the Compiled Financial Statements Are Not
Expected to Be Used by a Third Party ..............

Emphasis of a Matter ...

Departures From the Applicable Financial Reporting
Framework ...

Restricting the Use of an Accountant’s Compilation
Report ..o

An Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern ..........
Subsequent Events ........ ... oo

Subsequent Discovery of Facts Existing at the Date
ofthe Report ...

Supplementary Information ...
Communicating to Management and Others ................

Change in Engagement From Audit or Review
to Compilation ...

Effective Date .......ovviiiii
Compilation Exhibit A—lllustrative Engagement Letters ..... ..
Compilation Exhibit B—Illustrative Compilation Reports ......

Contents

Paragraph

18-
.20-.
.22-
.26
.27-
.37-
40-
A43-.
A46-.
A48-.

51

.01

.02-
.06-
.06-.
.08-.

A2

13
14
16-

.22-
.25-

.27-

.30-.
A40-.
A4-.

A7-.
.53
.54-.

.56-.
.62
.63
.64

19
21

.25
A7
.36
39
42

45
47
50

-.64
.05
13

07
11

15

39
.20
21
.24
.26

.29

39
43
46

52

55

61



Section

9080 Compilation of Financial Statements: Accounting and Review Services

Table of Contents

Interpretations of Section 80

1.

2.
3.

(@,

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

Reporting When There Are Significant Departures From
the Applicable Financial Reporting Framework (8/81) ...

Reporting on Tax Returns (11/82) ... .. ..o

Additional Procedures Performed in a Compilation
Engagement (3/83) ...

. Differentiating a Financial Statement Presentation

From a Trial Balance (9/90) ...,

. Submitting Draft Financial Statements (9/90) .............
. Reporting When Financial Statements Contain a Departure

From Promulgated Accounting Principles That Prevents
the Financial Statements From Being Misleading (2/91) ..

. Applicability of Statements on Standards for Accounting

and Review Services fo Litigation Services (5/91) ........

. Applicability of Statements on Standards for Accounting

and Review Services When Performing Controllership
or Other Management Services (7/02) ..................

. Use of the Label ”Selected Information— Substantially

All Disclosures Required by [the applicable financial
reporting framework] Are Not Included” in Compiled
Financial Statements (12/02) .................ccooin...
Omission of the Display of Comprehensive Income

in Compiled Financial Statements (9/03) ................
Special-Purpose Financial Statements to Comply With
Contractual Agreements or Regulatory Provisions (12/06)
Reporting on an Uncertainty, Including an Uncertainty
About an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going

Concern (2/07) i
Compilations of Financial Statements Prepared in
Accordance With International Financial Reporting
Standards (5/08) ...
Compilations of Financial Statements Prepared in
Accordance With a Financial Reporting Framework
Generally Accepted in Another Country (5/08) ..........
Considerations Related to Compilations Performed in
Accordance With International Standard on Related
Services 4410, Engagements to Compile Financial
Statements, Issued by the International Auditing and
Assurance Standards Board ...
Preparation of Financial Statements for Use by an

Entity’s Auditors (12/08) ...
Required Supplementary Information That Accompanies
Compiled Financial Statements (10/11) ..................

Q90 Review of Financial Statements
Establishing an Understanding ..............................

Review Performance Requirements ....................
Understanding of the Industry .........................
Knowledge of the Client ..............................

9

Paragraph

.01

.05-

.07-

10-.
A3

21

.25-

.28-.

.32-.

A1-.

A49-

.53-

.58-.

61-

.63-

.01-.
.03-.
.07
.09
13

.08-
.10-

-.04
.06

.09

12
14

-.20

-24

27

31

40

48

.52

.57

60

.62

.68

73
13

Contents



10

Section
90

9090

Contents

Table of Contents

Review of Financial Statements—continued

Designing and Performing Review Procedures ..............
Analytical Procedures ...
Inquiries and Other Review Procedures ...............

Incorrect, Incomplete, or Otherwise Unsatisfactory
Information ... ...

Management Representations .........................
Documentation in a Review Engagement ..............
Reporting on the Financial Statements .................
Emphasis of a Matter ...

Departures From the Applicable Financial Reporting
Framework ...

Restricting the Use of an Accountant Review Report ...
Limiting the Distribution of Reports ....................
An Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern ...
Subsequent Events ....... ...

Subsequent Discovery of Facts Existing at the Date
ofthe Report ...

Supplementary Information ...
Communicating to Management and Others ................
Change in Engagement From Audit to Review ..............
Effective Date ... .ot
Review Exhibit A—lllustrative Engagement Letter .............
Review Exhibit B—lllustrative Representation Letter ...........

Review Exhibit C—lllustrative Updating Management
Representation Lefter ...,

Review Exhibit D—Illustrative Review Reports ................

Review of Financial Statements: Accounting and Review Services

Interpretations of Section 90

1. Reporting When There Are Significant Departures From
the Applicable Financial Reporting Framework (8/81) ...

2. Reporting on Tax Returns (11/82) ...,

3. Additional Procedures Performed in a Review
Engagement (3/83) ... ...

4. Submitting Draft Financial Statements (9/90) .............

5. Reporting When Financial Statements Contain a Departure
From Promulgated Accounting Principles That Prevents the
Financial Statements From Being Misleading (2/91) ......

6. Special-Purpose Financial Statements to Comply With
Contractual Agreements or Regulatory Provisions (11/06)

7. Reporting on an Uncertainty, Including an Uncertainty About
an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern (2/07)

8. Reviews of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With
International Financial Reporting Standards (5/08) .......

9. Reviews of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With

a Financial Reporting Framework Generally Accepted in
Another Country (5/08) ... ..uuuiiiiiiiiiiiia

Paragraph

14-
16
19-

.22-
.25-
.27-

.34-.
37-.
A45-.
A7-.
Sl

.54-

.61

.63-

.01-.
.05-

.07-.
10-.

23-.

.29-

.33-.

.33
.18
.20

21
.24
.26
.32
.33

53
44
46
50
53

.59
.60
-.62
.68
.69
.70
71

72
73

04

.06

09
11

-22

28

32

37



Table of Contents 11

Section Paragraph

9090 Review of Financial Statements: Accounting and Review Services
Interpretations of Section 90— continued
10. Considerations Related to Reviews Performed in Accordance
with International Standard on Review Engagements
2400, Engagements to Review Financial Statements, Issued
by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards

Board ... .38-.40
11. Required Supplementary Information That Accompanies
Reviewed Financial Statements (10/11) .................. A41-.44
100 Compilation and Review of Financial Statements

[Superseded, December 2010, by the issuance of
SSARS No. 19.]

110 Compilation of Specified Elements, Accounts, or ltems of a

Financial Statement .01-17

Conditions for Compiling Specified Elements, Accounts,
or ltems of a Financial Statement ......................... .04-.05
Understanding With the Entity .............ccoooiiiiii... .06-.07
Performance Requirements ................cooiiiiiiiiiiiinn .08-.09
Documentation Requirements ..................... ... .10
Reporting Requirements ................coooiiiiiiiiiiiin... A113]
Reporting When the Accountant Is Not Independent ......... 14-15

Exhibit A: lllustrative Engagement Letter for a Compilation
of Specified Elements, Accounts, or ltems of a

Financial Statement ........... ... 16
Exhibit B: lllustrative Compilation Reports on Specified Elements,
Accounts, or ltems of a Financial Statement .............. 17
120 Compilation of Pro Forma Financial Information .01-.20
Conditions for Compiling Pro Forma Financial Information ... .06-.08
Understanding With the Entity ...........cccoooiiiiii... .09-.10
Performance Requirements .................oooiiiiiiiiiii 11-12
Documentation Requirements ...l 13
Reporting Requirements ............cccooiiiiiiiiiiiiinn.. 14-.16]
Reporting When the Accountant Is Not Independent ......... 17-18
Exhibit A: lllustrative Engagement Letter for a Compilation
of Pro Forma Financial Information ....................... 19
Exhibit B: lllustrative Compilation Report on Pro Forma Financial
Information ..........ooii .20
200 Reporting on Comparative Financial Statements .01-.39
Definiions ... .07
Continuing Accountant’s Standard Report ................... .08-.12
Continuing Accountant’s Changed Reference to a Departure
From the Applicable Financial Reporting Framework ..... 1315
Predecessor’'s Compilation or Review Report ................. 16-27
Predecessor’'s Compilation or Review Report
Not Presented .................ccoiiiiiiiiiii. A70.19]

Contents



12

Section
200

9200

300

9300

400

9400

500

Contents

Table of Contents

Reporting on Comparative Financial Statements—continued
Predecessor’s Compilation or Review Report

Reissued ...
Restated Prior-Period Financial Statements .............
Reporting When One Period Is Audited .....................

Reporting on Financial Statements That Previously Did Not

Onmit Substantially All Disclosures ........................
Transition ...
Effective Date .........ccooiiii

Exhibit A: lllustrative Compilation Reports on Comparative

Financial Statements ..... ... o

Exhibit B: lllustrative Review Reports on Comparative

Financial Statements ............ ... ... ... ... ... ...

Reporting on Comparative Financial Statements: Accounting
and Review Services Interpretations of Section 200

1. Reporting on Financial Statements That Previously Did

Not Omit Substantially All Disclosures (11/80) ...........

Compilation Reports on Financial Statements Included
in Certain Prescribed Forms

Exhibit: lllustrative Compilation Reports on Financial Statements
Included in Certain Prescribed Forms .....................

Compilation Reports on Financial Statements Included in Certain
Prescribed Forms: Accounting and Review Services
Interpretations of Section 300

1. Omission of Disclosures in Financial Statements Included

in Certain Prescribed Forms (5/82) ......................

Communications Between Predecessor and Successor Accountants

Inquiries Regarding Acceptance of an Engagement ..........
Other INQUIFIES ...
Successor Accountant’s Use of Communications .............

Financial Statements Reported on by

Predecessor Accountant .............. .. .

Exhibit: lllustrative Successor Accountant

Acknowledgment Letter .................. L

Communications Between Predecessor and Successor Accountants:

Accounting and Review Services Interpretations
of Section 400

1. Reports on the Application of Accounting Principles

(8/87) e

Reporting on Compiled Financial Statements [Deleted by the
issuance of Statement on Standards for Accounting and
Review Services No. 7, November 1992 ]

Paragraph

20-.24
25{.27]
[.28]-.29
.30.33]
[.34-36]

37

38

.39

.01-.04

.01-.06

.06

.01-.03

01-12
.03-06
[.07]-08
09

.01-.05



Table of Contents

Section

600 Reporting on Personal Financial Statements Included in Written
Personal Financial Plans

Effective Date ......oooi

Exhibit: lllustrative Report When the Accountant Submits a
Written Financial Plan Containing Unaudited Personal
Financial Statements That the Accountant Did Not

Compile ...

9600 Reporting on Personal Financial Statements Included in Written
Personal Financial Plans: Accounting and Review
Services Interpretation of Section 600

1. Submitting a Personal Financial Plan to a Client’s

Advisers (5/91) ...

13

Paragraph

.01-.08
.07

.08

.01-.03

Contents






Defining Professional Requirements 15

AR Section 20

Defining Professional Requirements in
Statements on Standards for Accounting and
Review Services

Superseded, December 2010, by the issuance of SSARS No. 19.

AR §20
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AR Section 50

Standards for Accounting and
Review Services
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Superseded, December 2010, by the issuance of SSARS No. 19.

AR §50






Compilation and Review Engagements

AR Section 60

Framework for Performing and Reporting on
Compilation and Review Engagements

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: December 2009
Source: SSARS No. 19

Introduction

.01 This section provides a framework and defines and describes the objec-
tives and elements of compilation and review engagements. This section also
sets forth the meaning of certain terms used in Statements on Standards for
Accounting and Review Services (SSARSs) issued by the Accounting and Re-
view Services Committee (ARSC) in describing the professional requirements
imposed on accountants performing compilation and review engagements.

.02 The following is an overview of this section:

"Relevant Definitions." This section defines various terms used
throughout SSARSSs.

"Objectives and Limitations of Compilation and Review Engage-
ments." This section sets forth the objectives and limitations of
compilation and review engagements and identifies the differ-
ences between each engagement.

"Professional Requirements." This section sets forth the meaning
of certain terms used in SSARSs in describing the professional
requirements imposed on accountants performing a compilation
or review engagement.

"Hierarchy of Compilation and Review Standards and Guidance."
This section sets forth the hierarchy of SSARSs literature.

"Elements of a Compilation or Review Engagement." This sec-
tion identifies and discusses five engagement elements: a three
party relationship involving management, an accountant, and in-
tended users; an applicable financial reporting framework; finan-
cial statements; evidence (in a review engagement); and a writ-
ten communication or report. It explains important distinctions
between compilation engagements in which the accountant ob-
tains no assurance and review engagements that are designed to
obtain limited assurance.

"Materiality." This section discusses the concept of materiality in
the context of the preparation and presentation of financial state-
ments.

.03 This section is intended to help accountants better understand their
professional responsibilities when engaged to compile or review financial state-
ments or financial information. Additional standards of SSARSs have been es-
tablished to set forth specific performance and reporting requirements. Such
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additional standards are based on the framework provided by this standard,

and any

requirements created by this standard also have been incorporated

into the additional standards of SSARSs.

Relevant Definitions
.04 Terms defined for purposes of SSARSs are as follows:

Applicable financial reporting framework. The financial reporting

framework adopted by management and, when appropriate, those
charged with governance in the preparation of the financial statements
that is acceptable in view of the nature of the entity and the objective
of the financial statements, or that is required by law or regulation.

Assurance engagement. An engagement in which an accountant issues

a report designed to enhance the degree of confidence of third parties
and management about the outcome of an evaluation or measurement
of financial statements (subject matter) against an applicable financial
reporting framework (criteria).

Attest engagement. An engagement that requires independence, as de-

fined in AICPA Professional Standards.

Financial reporting framework. A set of criteria used to determine

measurement, recognition, presentation, and disclosure of all material
items appearing in the financial statements.

Financial statements. A structured representation of historical finan-

cial information, including related notes, intended to communicate an
entity's economic resources and obligations at a point in time or the
changes therein for a period of time in accordance with a financial re-
porting framework. The related notes ordinarily comprise a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
The term financial statements ordinarily refers to a complete set of
financial statements as determined by the requirements of the ap-
plicable financial reporting framework, but can also refer to a single
financial statement or financial statements without notes.

Management. The person(s) with executive responsibility for the conduct

of the entity's operations. For some entities, management includes
some or all of those charged with governance (for example, executive
members of a governance board or an owner-manager).

Nonissuer. All entities except for those defined in Section 3 of the Securi-

ties Exchange Act of 1934 [15 U.S.C. 78c], the securities of which are
registered under Section 12 of that Act (15 U.S.C. 78l), or that is re-
quired to file reports under Section 15(d) (15 U.S.C. 780(d)), or that files
or has filed a registration statement that has not yet become effective
under the Securities Act of 1933 (15 U.S.C. 77a et seq.), and that it has
not withdrawn.

Other comprehensive basis of accounting (OCBOA). A definite set
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of criteria, other than accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America or International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards (IFRSs), having substantial support underlying the preparation
of financial statements prepared pursuant to that basis.

Examples of an OCBOA are as follows:

a. A basis of accounting that the reporting entity uses to comply
with the requirements or financial reporting provisions of a
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governmental regulatory agency to whose jurisdiction the en-
tity is subject (for example, a basis of accounting that insurance
companies use pursuant to the rules of a state insurance com-
mission).

b. A basis of accounting that the reporting entity uses or expects
to use to file its income tax return for the period covered by the
financial statements.

c. The cash basis of accounting and modifications of the cash
basis having substantial support (for example, recording de-
preciation on fixed assets). Ordinarily, a modification would
have substantial support if the method is equivalent to the ac-
crual basis of accounting for that item and if the method is not
illogical.

Review evidence. Information used by the accountant to provide a rea-
sonable basis for the obtaining of limited assurance.

Submission of financial statements. Presenting to management finan-
cial statements that an accountant has prepared.

Third party. All persons, including those charged with governance, except
for members of management.

Those charged with governance. The person(s) with responsibility for
overseeing the strategic direction of the entity and obligations related
to the accountability of the entity. This includes overseeing the finan-
cial reporting process. Those charged with governance are specifically
excluded from management, unless they perform management func-
tions.

Objectives and Limitations of Compilation
and Review Engagements

.05 A compilation is a service, the objective of which is to assist manage-
ment in presenting financial information in the form of financial statements !
without undertaking to obtain or provide any assurance that there are no ma-
terial modifications that should be made to the financial statements in order
for the statements to be in conformity with the applicable financial reporting
framework. Although a compilation is not an assurance engagement, it is an
attest engagement.

.06 A compilation differs significantly from a review or an audit of financial
statements. A compilation does not contemplate performing inquiry, analytical
procedures, or other procedures performed in a review. Additionally, a compila-
tion does not contemplate obtaining an understanding of the entity's internal
control; assessing fraud risk; testing accounting records by obtaining sufficient
appropriate audit evidence through inspection, observation, confirmation, or
the examination of source documents (for example, cancelled checks or bank
images); or other procedures ordinarily performed in an audit. Therefore, a
compilation does not provide a basis for obtaining or providing any assurance
regarding the financial statements.

1 For purposes of the Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services, with respect
to compilation engagements, references to "financial statements" include, when applicable, other spec-
ified elements, accounts, or items of a financial statement and pro forma financial information.
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.07 A review is a service, the objective of which is to obtain limited as-
surance that there are no material modifications that should be made to the
financial statements in order for the statements to be in conformity with the
applicable financial reporting framework. In a review engagement, the accoun-
tant should accumulate review evidence to obtain a limited level of assur-
ance. A review engagement is an assurance engagement as well as an attest
engagement.

.08 A review differs significantly from an audit of financial statements in
which the auditor obtains a high level of assurance (expressed in the audi-
tor's report as obtaining reasonable assurance) that the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. A review does not contemplate obtaining
an understanding of the entity's internal control; assessing fraud risk; testing
accounting records by obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence through
inspection, observation, confirmation, or the examination of source documents
(for example, cancelled checks or bank images); or other procedures ordinarily
performed in an audit. Accordingly, in a review, the accountant does not obtain
assurance that he or she will become aware of all significant matters that would
be disclosed in an audit. Therefore, a review is designed to obtain only limited
assurance that there are no material modifications that should be made to the
financial statements in order for the statements to be in conformity with the
applicable financial reporting framework.

Professional Requirements

Requirements

.09 SSARSSs contain professional requirements, together with related guid-
ance, in the form of explanatory material. Accountants performing a compila-
tion or review have a responsibility to consider the entire text of a SSARS in
carrying out their work on an engagement and in understanding and applying
the professional requirements of the relevant SSARSs.

.10 Not every paragraph of a SSARS carries a professional requirement
that the accountant is expected to fulfill. Rather, the professional requirements
are communicated by the language and the meaning of the words used in
SSARSs.

.11 SSARSSs use two categories of professional requirements identified by
specific terms to describe the degree of responsibility they impose on accoun-
tants. They are as follows:

®  Unconditional requirements. The accountant is required to com-
ply with an unconditional requirement in all cases in which the
circumstances exist to which the unconditional requirement ap-
plies. SSARSs use the words must or is required to indicate an
unconditional requirement.

®  Presumptively mandatory requirements. The accountant also is re-
quired to comply with a presumptively mandatory requirement in
all cases in which the circumstances exist to which the presump-
tively mandatory requirement applies; however, in rare circum-
stances, the accountant may depart from a presumptively manda-
tory requirement provided that the accountant documents his or
her justification for the departure and how the alternative proce-
dures performed in the circumstances were sufficient to achieve
the objectives of the presumptively mandatory requirement.
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SSARSSs use the word should to indicate a presumptively manda-
tory requirement.

If a SSARS provides that a procedure or action is one that the accountant
"should consider," the consideration of the procedure or action is presumptively
required, whereas carrying out the procedure or action is not. The professional
requirements of a SSARS are to be understood and applied in the context of the
explanatory material that provides guidance for their application. The specific
terms used to define professional requirements are not intended to apply to
interpretative publications issued under the authority of the ARSC because
interpretative publications are not SSARSSs.

Explanatory Material

.12 Explanatory material is defined as the text within a SSARS (excluding
any related appendixes or interpretations) that may do the following:

® Provide further explanation and guidance on the professional re-
quirements

® [dentify and describe other procedures or actions relating to the
activities of the accountant

.13 Explanatory material that provides further explanation and guidance
on the professional requirements is intended to be descriptive rather than im-
perative. That is, it explains the objective of the professional requirements
(when not otherwise self-evident); it explains why the accountant might con-
sider or employ particular procedures, depending on the circumstances; and
it provides additional information for the accountant to consider in exercising
professional judgment in performing the engagement.

.14 Explanatory material that identifies and describes other procedures
or actions relating to the activities of the accountant is not intended to im-
pose a professional requirement for the accountant to perform the suggested
procedures or actions. Rather, these procedures or actions require the accoun-
tant's attention and understanding; how and whether the accountant carries
out such procedures or actions in the engagement depends on the exercise of
professional judgment in the circumstances consistent with the objective of the
standard. The words may, might, and could are used to describe these actions
and procedures.

Hierarchy of Compilation and Review Standards
and Guidance

Compilation and Review Standards

.15 An accountant must perform a compilation or review engagement of
a nonissuer in accordance with SSARSs, except for certain reviews of interim
financial information as discussed in paragraph .01 of section 90, Review of
Financial Statements. SSARSs provide a measure of quality and the objectives
to be achieved in both a compilation and review engagement.

.16 Rule 202, Compliance With Standards (ET sec. 202 par. .01), requires
an AICPA member who performs compilations or reviews to comply with stan-
dards promulgated by the ARSC. The ARSC develops and issues standards in
the form of SSARSs through a due process that includes deliberations in meet-
ings open to the public, public exposure of proposed SSARSs, and a formal vote.
Finalized SSARSs are codified.

23
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.17 The nature of SSARSs requires an accountant to exercise professional
judgment in applying them.

Interpretative Publications

.18 Interpretative publications consist of compilation and review interpre-
tations of SSARSs; appendixes to SSARSs; compilation and review guidance
included in AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides; and AICPA Statements of
Position, to the extent that those statements are applicable to compilation and
review engagements. Interpretative publications are not standards for account-
ing and review services. Interpretative publications are recommendations on
the application of SSARSSs in specific circumstances, including engagements for
entities in specialized industries. An interpretative publication is issued under
the authority of the ARSC after all ARSC members have been provided an
opportunity to consider and comment on whether the proposed interpretative
publication is consistent with SSARSs.

.19 The accountant should be aware of and consider interpretative publi-
cations applicable to his or her compilation or review. If the accountant does
not apply the guidance included in an applicable interpretative publication,
the accountant should be prepared to explain how he or she complied with the
provisions of SSARSs addressed by such guidance.

Other Compilation and Review Publications

.20 Other compilation and review publications include AICPA accounting
and review publications not referred to previously; the AICPA's annual Com-
pilation and Review Alert; compilation and review articles in the Journal of
Accountancy and other professional journals; compilation and review articles
in the AICPA's The CPA Letter; continuing professional education programs and
other instructional materials, textbooks, guide books, compilation and review
programs, and checklists; and other compilation and review publications from
state CPA societies, other organizations, and individuals. Other compilation
and review publications have no authoritative status; however, they may help
the accountant understand and apply SSARSs. An accountant is not expected
to be aware of the full body of other compilation and review publications.

.21 Ifan accountant applies the guidance included in an other compilation
and review publication, he or she should be satisfied that, in his or her judgment,
it is both relevant to the circumstances of the engagement and appropriate. In
determining whether an other compilation and review publication that has not
been reviewed by the AICPA Audit and Attest Standards staff is appropriate,
the accountant may wish to consider the degree to which the publication is
recognized as being helpful in understanding and applying SSARSs and the
degree to which the issuer or author is recognized as an authority in compilation
and review matters. Other compilation and review publications published by
the AICPA that have been reviewed by the AICPA Audit and Attest Standards
staff are presumed to be appropriate.

Ethical Principles and Quality Control Standards

.22 In addition to SSARSs, AICPA members who perform compilation and
review engagements are governed by

a. the AICPA's Code of Professional Conduct (code), which expresses
the profession's recognition of its responsibilities to the public,
to clients, and to colleagues. The principles of the code guide
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members in the performance of their professional responsibilities
and express the basic tenets of ethical and professional conduct.
The principles call for an unswerving commitment to honorable
behavior, even at the sacrifice of personal advantage.

b. Statements on Quality Control Standards (SQCSs), which estab-
lish standards and provide guidance on a firm's system of quality
control.

.23 The code sets out the fundamental ethical principles that all AICPA
members are required to observe. When performing a compilation or review en-
gagement, the code requires an accountant to maintain objectivity and integrity
and comply with all other applicable provisions.

.24 An accountant has the responsibility to adopt a system of quality con-
trol in conducting an accounting practice. Thus, a firm should establish quality
control policies and procedures to provide reasonable assurance that person-
nel comply with SSARSs in compilation and review engagements. The nature
and extent of a firm's quality control policies and procedures depend on factors
such as its size, the degree of operating autonomy allowed its personnel and
its practice offices, the nature of its practice, its organization, and appropriate
cost-benefit considerations.

.25 SSARSSs relate to the conduct of individual compilation and review
engagements; SQCSs relate to the conduct of a firm's accounting practice. Thus,
SSARSs and SQCSs are related, and the quality control policies and procedures
that a firm adopts may affect both the conduct of an individual engagement and
the firm's accounting practice as a whole. However, deficiencies in, or instances
of noncompliance with, a firm's quality control policies and procedures do not, in
and of themselves, indicate that a particular review or compilation engagement
was not performed in accordance with SSARSs.

Elements of a Compilation or Review Engagement

.26 The following elements of a compilation and review engagement are
discussed in this section:

a. Athree party relationship involving management, an accountant,
and intended users

b. An applicable financial reporting framework
c¢. Financial statements or financial information
In a review, sufficient appropriate review evidence

e. A written communication or report

Three Party Relationship

.27 A compilation or review engagement involves three parties: manage-
ment (or the responsible party); an accountant in the practice of public ac-
counting, as defined by the AICPA code; and intended users of the financial
statements or financial information.

.28 In some cases, management and the intended users may be the same.
Intended users may be from different entities (for example, a banker or potential
investor) or the same entity.

.29 Ifan accountant is not in the practice of public accounting, the issuance
of a written communication or report under SSARSs would be inappropriate.
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Management (Responsible Party)

.30 Management responsibilities include taking responsibility for the
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with the applicable financial reporting framework and taking responsibility for
designing, implementing, and maintaining internal control.?

.31 A basic premise underlying the performance of a compilation or re-
view engagement is that the accountant is performing an attest service on
subject matter that is the responsibility of the client's management. Therefore,
an accountant is precluded from issuing an unmodified compilation report or
a review report on financial statements when management is unwilling to ac-
cept responsibility for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework
or to take responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of
internal control.

.32 As part of their responsibility for the preparation and presentation of
the financial statements, management and, when appropriate, those charged
with governance, are responsible for the identification of the applicable financial
reporting framework and the preparation and presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with that framework.

.33 During the performance of a compilation or review engagement, the
accountant may make suggestions about the form or content of the financial
statements or prepare them, in whole or in part, based on information that is
the representation of management.

Accountant in the Practice of Public Accounting

.34 The accountant should possess a level of knowledge of the accounting
principles and practices of the industry in which the entity operates that will
enable him or her to compile or review financial statements that are appro-
priate in form for an entity operating in that industry. As addressed in the
firm's quality control system, an accountant should not accept an engagement
if preliminary knowledge of the engagement circumstances indicates that eth-
ical requirements regarding professional competence will not be satisfied. In
some cases, this requirement can be satisfied by the accountant using the work
of persons from other professional disciplines, referred to as experts. In such
cases, the accountant should be satisfied that those persons carrying out as-
pects of the engagement possess the requisite skills and knowledge and that
the accountant has an adequate level of involvement in the engagement and
understanding of the work for which any expert is used.

2 The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission defines internal
control as a process effected by management (or those charged with governance and other personnel)
designed to provide reasonable assurance about the achievement of the entity's objectives. Internal
control consists of five interrelated components:

1. Control environment sets the tone of an organization, influencing the control consciousness of

its people. It is the foundation for all other components of internal control, providing discipline
and structure.

2. Entity's risk assessment is the entity's identification and analysis of relevant risks to achieve-
ment of its objectives, forming a basis for determining how the risks should be managed.

3. Information and communication systems support the identification, capture, and exchange of
information in a form and time frame that enables people to carry out their responsibilities.

4. Control activities are the policies and procedures that help ensure that management directives
are carried out.

5. Monitoring is a process that assesses the quality of internal control performance over time.
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Intended Users of the Financial Statements or Financial Information

.35 The intended users are the person(s) or class of persons who under-
stand the limitations of the compilation or review engagement and financial
statements. The accountant has no responsibility to identify the intended users.

.36 In some cases, intended users (for example, bankers and regulators)
may impose a requirement on or request the client to arrange for additional
procedures to be performed for a specific purpose. For example, a banker may
request that certain agreed-upon procedures be performed with respect to the
entity's accounts receivable in addition to the financial statements being com-
piled. An accountant may perform additional services in conjunction with the
compilation or review, as long as he or she adheres to professional standards
with respect to those additional services.

An Applicable Financial Reporting Framework

.37 Management and, when applicable, those charged with governance
are responsible for the selection of the entity's applicable financial reporting
framework, as well as individual accounting policies when the financial report-
ing framework contains acceptable alternatives. The financial reporting frame-
work encompasses financial accounting standards established by an authorized
or recognized standards setting organization.

.38 The requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework de-
termine the form and content of the financial statements. Although the frame-
work may not specify how to account for or disclose all transactions or events,
it ordinarily embodies sufficiently broad principles that can serve as a basis
for developing and applying accounting policies that are consistent with the
concepts underlying the requirements of the framework.

.39 Examples of financial reporting frameworks include accounting princi-
ples generally accepted in the United States of America, as promulgated by the
Financial Accounting Standards Board, the Governmental Accounting Stan-
dards Board, or the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board; IFRSs is-
sued by the International Accounting Standards Board; and OCBOA.

Financial Statement or Financial Information

.40 An accountant may be engaged to compile or review a complete set of
financial statements or an individual financial statement (for example, balance
sheet only). The financial statements may be for an annual period or for a
shorter or longer period, depending on management's needs.

.41 The requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework de-
termine what constitutes a complete set of financial statements. In the case
of many frameworks, financial statements are intended to provide informa-
tion about the financial position, financial performance, and cash flows of an
entity. For example, a complete set of financial statements might include a bal-
ance sheet, an income statement, a statement of retained earnings, a cash flow
statement, and related notes. For some other financial reporting frameworks,
a single financial statement and the related notes might constitute a complete
set of financial statements.

.42 The preparation of the financial statements requires management to
exercise judgment in making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances, as well as to select and apply appropriate accounting policies.
These judgments are made in the context of the applicable financial reporting
framework.
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Evidence

.43 When performing a compilation engagement, the accountant has no
responsibility to obtain any evidence about the accuracy or completeness of the
financial statements. As a result, a compilation does not provide a basis for
obtaining any level of assurance on the financial statements being compiled.

.44 When performing a review engagement, the accountant should per-
form procedures designed to accumulate review evidence that will provide a
reasonable basis for obtaining limited assurance that there are no material
modifications that should be made to the financial statements in order for the
statements to be in conformity with the applicable financial reporting frame-
work. The accountant should apply professional judgment in determining the
specific nature, timing, and extent of review procedures. Such procedures should
be tailored based on the accountant's understanding of the industry in which
the client operates and the accountant's knowledge of the entity. The nature,
timing, and extent of procedures for gathering review evidence are deliberately
limited relative to an audit.

.45 Review evidence obtained through the performance of analytical pro-
cedures and inquiries ordinarily will provide the accountant with a reasonable
basis for obtaining limited assurance.

Compilation and Review Reports

.46 If the accountant performs a compilation, a report or written commu-
nication is required unless the accountant withdraws from the engagement.?
If the accountant is not independent, he or she may issue a compilation report,
provided that the accountant complies with the compilation standards. In mak-
ing a judgment about whether he or she is independent, the accountant should
be guided by the AICPA's Code of Professional Conduct.

.47 Ifthe accountant performs a review, a written review report is required
unless the accountant withdraws from the engagement.

Materiality

.48 Financial reporting frameworks often discuss the concept of material-
ity in the context of the preparation and presentation of financial statements.
Although financial reporting frameworks may discuss materiality in different
terms, they generally explain that

® misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material
if they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be ex-
pected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of the financial statements;

® judgments about materiality are made in light of surrounding cir-
cumstances and are affected by the size or nature of a misstate-
ment or a combination of both; and

® judgments about matters that are material to users of the financial
statements are based on a consideration of the common financial

3 As further described in paragraphs .22—.24 of section 80, Compilation of Financial Statements,
an accountant may be associated with the submission of financial statements not expected to be
used by a third party. Such service does not require the accountant to issue a report on the financial
statements.
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information needs of users as a group. The possible effect of mis-
statements on specific individual users, whose needs may vary
widely, is not considered.

49 Such a discussion, if present in the applicable financial reporting
framework, provides a frame of reference to the accountant in determining
whether there are any material modifications that should be made to the fi-
nancial statements in order for the statements to be in conformity with the
applicable financial reporting framework. If the applicable financial reporting
framework does not include a discussion of the concept of materiality, the char-
acteristics referred to in paragraph .48 provide the accountant with such a
frame of reference.

.50 The accountant's determination of materiality is a matter of profes-
sional judgment and is affected by the accountant's perception of the financial
information needs of users of the financial statements. In this context, it is
reasonable for the accountant to assume that users

a. have a reasonable knowledge of business and economic activities
and accounting and a willingness to study the information in the
financial statements with reasonable diligence;

b. understand that financial statements are prepared, presented,
and reviewed to levels of materiality;

c. recognize the uncertainties inherent in the measurement of
amounts based on the use of estimates, judgment, and the con-
sideration of future events; and

d. make reasonable economic decisions on the basis of the informa-
tion in the financial statements.

Effective Date

.51 This section is effective for compilations and reviews of financial state-
ments for periods ending on or after December 15, 2010.
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AR Section 80
Compilation of Financial Statements

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: December 2009
Source: SSARS No. 19

.01 This section establishes standards and provides guidance on compila-
tions of financial statements. The accountant is required to comply with the pro-
visions of this section whenever he or she is engaged to report on compiled finan-
cial statements or submits financial statements to a client or to third parties.

Establishing an Understanding

.02 The accountant should establish an understanding with management
regarding the services to be performed for compilation engagements!' and
should document the understanding through a written communication with
management. Such an understanding reduces the risks that either the accoun-
tant or management may misinterpret the needs or expectations of the other
party. For example, it reduces the risk that management may inappropriately
rely on the accountant to protect the entity against certain risks or to per-
form certain functions that are management's responsibility. The accountant
should ensure that the understanding includes the objectives of the engage-
ment, management's responsibilities, the accountant's responsibilities, and the
limitations of the engagement. In some cases, the accountant may establish
such understanding with those charged with governance.

.03 An understanding with management and, if applicable, those charged
with governance, regarding a compilation of financial statements should in-
clude the following matters:

® The objective of a compilation is to assist management in present-
ing financial information in the form of financial statements.

® The accountant utilizes information that is the representation
of management (owners) without undertaking to obtain or pro-
vide any assurance that there are no material modifications that
should be made to the financial statements in order for the state-
ments to be in conformity with the applicable financial reporting
framework.

® Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presenta-
tion of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable
financial reporting framework.

® Management is responsible for designing, implementing, and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements.

® Management is responsible to prevent and detect fraud.

1 See paragraph .29 of QC section 10, A Firm's System of Quality Control. [Footnote revised,
December 2012, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of SQCS No. 8.]
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® Management is responsible for identifying and ensuring that the
entity complies with the laws and regulations applicable to its
activities.

® Management is responsible for making all financial records and
related information available to the accountant.

® The accountant is responsible for conducting the engagement in
accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Re-
view Services (SSARSs) issued by the AICPA.

® A compilation differs significantly from a review or an audit of fi-
nancial statements. A compilation does not contemplate perform-
ing inquiry, analytical procedures, or other procedures performed
in a review. Additionally, a compilation does not contemplate ob-
taining an understanding of the entity's internal control; assess-
ing fraud risk; testing accounting records by obtaining sufficient
appropriate audit evidence through inspection, observation, con-
firmation, or the examination of source documents (for example,
cancelled checks or bank images); or other procedures ordinarily
performed in an audit. Accordingly, the accountant will not ex-
press an opinion or provide any assurance regarding the financial
statements.

® The engagement cannot be relied upon to disclose errors, fraud,?
or illegal acts.?

® The accountant will inform the appropriate level of management
of any material errors and of any evidence or information that
comes to the accountant's attention during the performance of
compilation procedures that fraud or an illegal act may have oc-
curred.* The accountant need not report any matters regarding
illegal acts that may have occurred that are clearly inconsequen-
tial and may reach agreement in advance with the entity on the
nature of any such matters to be communicated.

® The effect of any independence impairments on the expected form
of the accountant's compilation report, if applicable.

These matters should be communicated in the form of an engagement letter.
Examples of engagement letters for a compilation of financial statements are
presented in Compilation Exhibit A, "Illustrative Engagement Letters."

.04 An understanding with management or, if applicable, those charged
with governance, also may include other matters, such as the following:

® Fees and billings

2 For purposes of the SSARSs, fraud is an intentional act that results in a misstatement in
compiled financial statements.

3 For purposes of the SSARSS, illegal acts are violations of laws or government regulations, ex-
cluding fraud.

4 Whether an act is, in fact, fraudulent or illegal is a determination that is normally beyond the
accountant's professional competence. An accountant, in reporting on financial statements, presents
himself or herself as one who is proficient in accounting and compilation services. The accountant's
training, experience, and understanding of the client and its industry may provide a basis for recog-
nition that some client acts coming to his or her attention may be fraudulent or illegal. However, the
determination about whether a particular act is fraudulent or illegal would generally be based on the
advice of an informed expert qualified to practice law or may have to await final determination by a
court of law.
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®  Any limitation of or other arrangements regarding the liability of
the accountant or the client, such as indemnification to the accoun-
tant for liability arising from knowing misrepresentations to the
accountant by management (regulators may restrict or prohibit
such liability limitation arrangements)

® Conditions under which access to compilation documentation may
be granted to others

® Additional services to be provided relating to regulatory require-
ments

.05 If the compiled financial statements are not expected to be used by a
third party and the accountant does not expect to issue a compilation report
on the financial statements, the accountant should include in the engagement
letter an acknowledgment of management's representation and agreement that
the financial statements are not to be used by a third party. The engagement
letter also should address the following additional matters if applicable:

® DMaterial departures from the applicable financial reporting
framework may exist, and the effects of those departures, if any,
on the financial statements may not be disclosed.

® Substantially all disclosures (and statement of cash flows, if ap-
plicable) required by the applicable financial reporting framework
may be omitted.

® Reference to supplementary information.

Compilation Performance Requirements

Understanding of the Industry

.06 The accountant should possess an understanding of the industry in
which the client operates, including the accounting principles and practices
generally used in the industry sufficient to enable the accountant to compile
financial statements that are appropriate in form for an entity operating in
that industry.

.07 The requirement that the accountant possess a level of knowledge of
the industry in which the client operates does not prevent the accountant from
accepting a compilation engagement for an entity in an industry with which the
accountant has no previous experience. It does, however, place upon the accoun-
tant a responsibility to obtain the required level of knowledge. The accountant
may do so, for example, by consulting AICPA guides, industry publications, fi-
nancial statements of other entities in the industry, textbooks and periodicals,
appropriate continuing professional education, or individuals knowledgeable
about the industry.

Knowledge of the Client
.08 The accountant should obtain knowledge about the client, including
® an understanding of the client's business and

® an understanding of the accounting principles and practices used
by the client.

.09 In obtaining an understanding of the client's business, the accountant
should have a general understanding of the client's organization; its operating
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characteristics; and the nature of its assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses.
The accountant's understanding of the entity's business is ordinarily obtained
through experience with the entity or its industry and inquiry of the entity's
personnel.

.10 The accountant should obtain an understanding of the accounting prin-
ciples and practices used by the client in measuring, recognizing, recording, and
disclosing all significant accounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The accountant's understanding also may include matters such as changes
in accounting practices and principles and differences in the client's business
model as compared with normal practices within the industry.

.11 In obtaining this understanding of the client's accounting policies and
practices, the accountant should be alert to unusual accounting policies and
procedures that come to the accountant's attention as a result of his or her
knowledge of the industry.

Reading the Financial Statements

.12 Before submission, the accountant should read the financial state-
ments and consider whether such financial statements appear to be appro-
priate in form and free from obvious material errors. In this context, the term
error refers to mistakes in the preparation of financial statements, including
arithmetical or clerical mistakes, and mistakes in the application of accounting
principles, including inadequate disclosure.

Other Compilation Procedures

.13 The accountant is not required to make inquiries or perform other
procedures to verify, corroborate, or review information supplied by the entity.
However, the accountant may have made inquiries or performed other pro-
cedures. The results of such inquiries or procedures, knowledge gained from
prior engagements, or the financial statements on their face may cause the ac-
countant to become aware that information supplied by the entity is incorrect,
incomplete, or otherwise unsatisfactory or that fraud or an illegal act may have
occurred. The accountant should request that management consider the ef-
fect of these matters on the financial statements and communicate the results
of such consideration to the accountant. Additionally, the accountant should
consider the effect of management's conclusions regarding these matters on
the accountant's compilation report. In circumstances when the accountant
believes that the financial statements may be materially misstated, the ac-
countant should obtain additional or revised information. If the entity refuses
to provide additional or revised information, the accountant should withdraw
from the engagement.

Documentation in a Compilation Engagement

.14 The accountant should prepare documentation in connection with each
compilation engagement in sufficient detail to provide a clear understanding
of the work performed. Documentation provides the principal support for the
representation in the accountant's compilation report that the accountant per-
formed the compilation in accordance with SSARSs.

The accountant is not precluded from supporting the compilation report by
other means in addition to the compilation documentation. Such other means
might include written documentation contained in other engagement files or
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quality control files (for example, consultation files) and, in limited situations,
oral explanations.

.15 The form, content, and extent of documentation depend on the circum-
stances of the engagement, the methodology and tools used, and the accoun-
tant's professional judgment. The accountant's documentation should include
the following:

a. The engagement letter documenting the understanding with the
client

b. Any findings or issues that, in the accountant's judgment, are sig-
nificant (for example, the results of compilation procedures that
indicate that the financial statements could be materially mis-
stated, including actions taken to address such findings and, to
the extent that the accountant had any questions or concerns as a
result of his or her compilation procedures, how those issues were
resolved)

c¢. Communications, whether oral or written, to the appropriate level
of management regarding fraud or illegal acts that come to the
accountant's attention

Reporting on the Financial Statements

.16 When the accountant is engaged to report on compiled financial state-
ments or submits financial statements that are reasonably expected to be used
by a third party, the financial statements should be accompanied by a written
report. The accountant's objective in reporting on the financial statements is
to prevent misinterpretation of the degree of responsibility the accountant is
assuming when his or her name is associated with the financial statements.

.17 The basic elements of the report are as follows:

a. Title. The accountant's compilation report should have a title that
clearly indicates that it is the accountant's compilation report.
The accountant may indicate that he or she is independent in
the title, if applicable. Appropriate titles would be "Accountant's
Compilation Report" or "Independent Accountant's Compilation
Report."

b. Addressee. The accountant's report should be addressed as appro-
priate in the circumstances of the engagement.

c. Introductory paragraph. The introductory paragraph in the ac-
countant's report should

i. identify the entity whose financial statements have been
compiled;
ii. state that the financial statements have been compiled;
iii. identify the financial statements that have been compiled;

iv. specify the date or period covered by the financial state-
ments; and

v. include a statement that the accountant has not audited or
reviewed the financial statements and, accordingly, does
not express an opinion or provide any assurance about
whether the financial statements are in accordance with
the applicable financial reporting framework.

d. Management's responsibility for the financial statements and
for internal control over financial reporting. A statement that
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management (owners) is (are) responsible for the preparation and
fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
the applicable financial reporting framework and for designing,
implementing, and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements.

e. Accountant's responsibility. A statement that the accountant's

responsibility is to conduct the compilation in accordance with
SSARSSs issued by the AICPA.
A statement that the objective of a compilation is to assist man-
agement in presenting financial information in the form of finan-
cial statements without undertaking to obtain or provide any as-
surance that there are no material modifications that should be
made to the financial statements.

f.  Signature of the accountant. The manual or printed signature of
the accounting firm or the accountant, as appropriate.

g. Date of the accountant's report. The date of the compilation report
(the date of completion of the compilation should be used as the
date of the accountant's report).

Procedures that the accountant might have performed as part of the compilation
engagement should not be described in the report.

See Compilation Exhibit B, "Illustrative Compilation Reports," for illustrative
compilation reports.

.18 Each page of the financial statements compiled by the accountant
should include a reference, such as "See accountant's compilation report" or
"See independent accountant's compilation report."

.19 Financial statements prepared in accordance with an other compre-
hensive basis of accounting (OCBOA) are not considered appropriate in form
unless the financial statements include

a. a description of the OCBOA, including a summary of significant
accounting policies and a description of the primary differences
from generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The ef-
fects of the differences need not be quantified.

b. informative disclosures similar to those required by GAAP if the
financial statements contain items that are the same as, or simi-

lar to, those in financial statements prepared in accordance with
GAAP.

Reporting on Financial Statements That Omit Substantially
All Disclosures

.20 An entity may request the accountant to compile financial statements
that omit substantially all the disclosures required by an applicable financial
reporting framework, including disclosures that might appear in the body of
the financial statements.® The accountant may compile such financial state-
ments, provided that the omission of substantially all disclosures is not, to
his or her knowledge, undertaken with the intention of misleading those who
might reasonably be expected to use such financial statements. When reporting

5 See paragraphs .27—.29 for the accountant's responsibilities when he or she is aware of other
departures from an applicable financial reporting framework. However, see section 300, Compilation
Reports on Financial Statements Included in Certain Prescribed Forms, for guidance when such fi-
nancial statements are included in a prescribed form, and the prescribed form or related instructions
do not request the disclosures required by an applicable financial reporting framework.
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on financial statements that omit substantially all disclosures, the accountant
should include, after the paragraph describing the accountant's responsibility,
a paragraph in the compilation report that includes the following elements:

a. A statement that management has elected to omit substantially
all the disclosures (and the statement of cash flows, if applica-
ble) required by the applicable financial reporting framework (or
ordinarily included in the financial statements if the financial
statements are prepared in accordance with an OCBOA)

b. Astatement thatif the omitted disclosures (and statement of cash
flows, if applicable) were included in the financial statements,
they might influence the user's conclusions about the company's
financial position, results of operations, and cash flows (or equiva-
lent for presentations other than accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America)

c. A statement that, accordingly, the financial statements are not
designed for those who are not informed about such matters

When the entity wishes to include disclosures about only a few matters in the
form of notes to such financial statements, such disclosures should be labeled
"Selected Information—Substantially All Disclosures Required by [identify
the applicable financial reporting framework (for example "Accepted Account-
ing Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America")] Are Not
Included."

See Compilation Exhibit B for examples of compilation reports when substan-
tially all disclosures required by an applicable financial reporting framework
are omitted.

Reporting When the Accountant Is Not Independent

.21 When the accountant is issuing a report with respect to a compilation
of financial statements for an entity, with respect to which the accountant is not
independent, the accountant's report should be modified. In making a judgment
about whether he or she is independent, the accountant should be guided by
the AICPA's Code of Professional Conduct. The accountant should indicate his
or her lack of independence in a final paragraph of the accountant's compilation
report. An example of such a disclosure would be

I am (We are) not independent with respect to XYZ Company.

The accountant is not precluded from disclosing a description about the rea-
son(s) that his or her independence is impaired. The following are examples of
descriptions the accountant may use:

a. Tam (We are) not independent with respect to XYZ Company as of
and for the year ended December 31, 20XX, because I (a member
of the engagement team) had a direct financial interest in XYZ
Company;

b. I am (We are) not independent with respect to XYZ Company as
of and for the year ended December 31, 20XX, because an individ-
ual of my immediate family (an immediate family member of one
of the members of the engagement team) was employed by XYZ
Company; or

c. I am (We are) not independent with respect to XYZ Company as
of and for the year ended December 31, 20XX, because I (we) per-
formed certain accounting services (the accountant may include
a specific description of those services) that impaired my (our)
independence.
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If the accountant elects to disclose a description about the reasons his or her
independence is impaired, the accountant should ensure that all reasons are
included in the description.

See Compilation Exhibit B for illustrative examples of accountant's compilation
reports when the accountant's independence has been impaired.

Accountant’'s Communications With the Client When the
Compiled Financial Statements Are Not Expected to Be Used

by a Third Party

.22 When the accountant submits compiled financial statements to his or
her client that are not expected to be used by a third party, he or she is not
required to issue a compilation report.

.23 The accountant should include a reference on each page of the financial
statements restricting their use, such as "Restricted for Management's Use
Only," or "Solely for the information and use by the management of [name of
entity] and not intended to be and should not be used by any other party."

.24 If the accountant becomes aware that the financial statements have
been distributed to third parties, the accountant should discuss the situation
with the client and determine the appropriate course of action, including consid-
ering requesting that the client have the statements returned. If the accountant
requests that the financial statements be returned and the client does not com-
ply with that request within a reasonable period of time, the accountant should
notify known third parties that the financial statements are not intended for
third party use, preferably in consultation with his or her attorney.

Emphasis of a Matter

.25 The accountant may emphasize, in any report on financial statements,
a matter disclosed in the financial statements. Such explanatory information
should be presented in a separate paragraph of the accountant's report. Empha-
sis paragraphs are never required; they may be added solely at the accountant's
discretion.

Examples of matters that the accountant may wish to emphasize are
® uncertainties.
® that the entity is a component of a larger business enterprise.

® that the entity has had significant transactions with related par-
ties.

® unusually important subsequent events.

® accounting matters, other than those involving a change or
changes in accounting principles, affecting the comparability of
the financial statements with those of the preceding period.

.26 Because an emphasis of matter paragraph should not be used in lieu of
management disclosures, the accountant should not include an emphasis para-
graph in a compilation report on financial statements that omit substantially
all disclosures unless the matter is disclosed in the financial statements. The
accountant should refer to paragraph .20 if he or she believes that a disclosure
is necessary to keep the financial statements from being misleading.
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Departures From the Applicable Financial Reporting Framework

.27 An accountant who is engaged to compile financial statements may be-
come aware of a departure from the applicable financial reporting framework
(including inadequate disclosure) that is material to the financial statements.
Paragraph .20 provides guidance to the accountant when the departure relates
to the omission of substantially all disclosures in the financial statements that
he or she has compiled. section 300, Compilation Reports on Financial State-
ments Included in Certain Prescribed Forms, provides guidance when the de-
parture is called for by a prescribed form or related instructions. In all other cir-
cumstances, if the financial statements are not revised, the accountant should
consider whether modification of the standard report is adequate to disclose
the departure.

.28 If the accountant concludes that modification of the standard report
is appropriate, the departure should be disclosed in a separate paragraph of
the report, including disclosure of the effects of the departure on the financial
statements if such effects have been determined by management or are known
as the result of the accountant's procedures. The accountant is not required to
determine the effects of a departure if management has not done so, provided
that the accountant states in the report that such determination has not been
made.

See Compilation Exhibit B for examples of compilation reports that disclose
departures from the applicable financial reporting framework.

.29 If the accountant believes that modification of the standard report is
not adequate to indicate the deficiencies in the financial statements as a whole,
the accountant should withdraw from the compilation engagement and provide
no further services with respect to those financial statements. The accountant
may wish to consult with his or her legal counsel in those circumstances.

Restricting the Use of an Accountant’s Compilation Report

General Use and Restricted Use Reports

.30 The term general use applies to accountants' reports that are not re-
stricted to specified parties. Accountants' reports on financial statements pre-
pared in conformity with an applicable financial reporting framework ordinarily
are not restricted regarding use. However, nothing in this section precludes the
accountant from restricting the use of any report.

.31 The term restricted use applies to accountants' reports intended only
for one or more specified third parties. The need for restriction on the use of a
report may result from a number of circumstances, including, but not limited to,
the purpose of the report and the potential for the report to be misunderstood
when taken out of the context in which it was intended to be used.

.32 The accountant should restrict the use of a report when the subject
matter of the accountant's report or the presentation being reported on is based
on measurement or disclosure criteria contained in contractual agreements® or
regulatory provisions that are not in conformity with an applicable financial
reporting framework.

8 A contractual agreement, as discussed in this section, is an agreement between the client and
one or more third parties other than the accountant.
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Reporting on Subject Matter or Presentations Based on Measurement
or Disclosure Criteria Contained in Contractual Agreements
or Regulatory Provisions

.33 When reports are issued on subject matter or presentations based on
measurement or disclosure criteria contained in contractual agreements or
regulatory provisions that are not in conformity with an applicable financial re-
porting framework, the accountant should restrict the report because the basis,
assumptions, or purpose of such presentations (contained in such agreements
or regulatory provisions) are developed for, and directed only to, the parties to
the agreement or regulatory agency responsible for the provisions. The report
also should be restricted because the report, the subject matter, or the presen-
tation may be misunderstood by those who are not adequately informed of the
basis, assumptions, or purpose of the presentation.

Combined Reports Covering Both Restricted Use and General Use Subject
Matter or Presentations

.34 If the accountant issues a single combined report covering both (a)
subject matter or presentations that require a restriction on use to specified
parties and (b) subject matter or presentations that ordinarily do not require
such a restriction, the use of such a single combined report should be restricted
to the specified parties.

Inclusion of a Separate Restricted Use Report in the Same Document
With a General Use Report

.35 When required by law or regulation, a separate restricted use report
may be included in a document that also contains a general use report. The in-
clusion of a separate restricted use report in a document that contains a general
use report does not affect the intended use of either report. The restricted use
report remains restricted regarding use, and the general use report continues
for general use.

Adding Other Specified Parties

.36 Subsequent to the completion of an engagement resulting in a re-
stricted use report, or in the course of such an engagement, the accountant
may be asked to consider adding other parties as specified parties.

.37 Ifthe accountant is reporting on subject matter or a presentation based
on measurement or disclosure criteria contained in contractual agreements or
regulatory provisions, as described in paragraph .33, the accountant may agree
to add other parties as specified parties based on the accountant's considera-
tion of factors such as the identity of the other parties, their knowledge of the
basis of the measurement or disclosure criteria, and the intended use of the
report. If the accountant agrees to add other parties as specified parties,
the accountant should obtain affirmative acknowledgment, preferably in writ-
ing, from the other parties of their understanding of the nature of the engage-
ment, the measurement or disclosure criteria used in the engagement, and the
related report. If the other parties are added after the accountant has issued
his or her report, the report may be reissued, or the accountant may provide
other written acknowledgment that the other parties have been added as spec-
ified parties. If the report is reissued, the report date should not be changed. If
the accountant provides written acknowledgment that the other parties have
been added as specified parties, such written acknowledgment ordinarily should
state that no procedures have been performed subsequent to the date of the
report.

§80.33



Compilation of Financial Statements 41

Limiting the Distribution of Reports

.38 Because of the reasons presented in paragraph .31, the accountant
should consider informing his or her client that restricted use reports are not
intended for distribution to nonspecified parties, regardless of whether they
are included in a document containing a separate general use report.” This
section does not preclude the accountant, in connection with establishing the
terms of the engagement, from reaching an understanding with the client that
the intended use of the report will be restricted and from obtaining the client's
agreement that the client and the specified parties will not distribute the report
to parties other than those identified in the report. However, the accountant is
not responsible for controlling a client's distribution of restricted use reports.
Accordingly, a restricted use report should alert readers to the restriction on
the use of the report by indicating that the report is not intended to be and
should not be used by anyone other than the specified parties.

Report Language —Restricted Use

.39 An accountant's report that is restricted should contain a separate
paragraph at the end of the report that includes the following elements:

a. A statement indicating that the report is intended solely for the
information and use of the specified parties.

b. Anidentification of the specified parties to whom use is restricted.
The report may list the specified parties or refer the reader to the
specified parties listed elsewhere in the report.

c. A statement that the report is not intended to be and should not
be used by anyone other than the specified parties.

An Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern

.40 During the performance of compilation procedures, evidence or infor-
mation may come to the accountant's attention indicating that an uncertainty
may exist about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern for a rea-
sonable period of time, not to exceed one year beyond the date of the financial
statements being compiled (hereinafter referred to as a reasonable period of
time). In those circumstances, the accountant should request that management
consider the possible effects of the going concern uncertainty on the financial
statements, including the need for related disclosure.

41 After management communicates to the accountant the results of its
consideration of the possible effects on the financial statements, the accountant
should consider the reasonableness of management's conclusions, including the
adequacy of the related disclosures, if applicable.

42 If the accountant determines that management's conclusions are un-
reasonable or the disclosure of the uncertainty regarding the entity's ability
to continue as a going concern is not adequate, he or she should follow the
guidance in paragraphs .27—.29 with respect to departures from an applicable
financial reporting framework.

.43 The accountant may emphasize an uncertainty about an entity's ability
to continue as a going concern, provided that the uncertainty is disclosed in the

7 In some cases, restricted use reports filed with regulatory agencies are required by law or
regulation to be made available to the public as a matter of public record. Also, a regulatory agency, as
part of its oversight responsibility for an entity, may require access to restricted use reports in which
they are not named as a specified party.
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financial statements. In such circumstances, the accountant should follow the
guidance in paragraphs .25-.26.

Subsequent Events

.44 Evidence or information that a subsequent event that has a material
effect on the compiled financial statements has occurred may come to the ac-
countant's attention in the following ways:

a. During the performance of compilation procedures

b. Subsequent to the date of the accountant's compilation report but
prior to the release of the report 8

In either case, the accountant should request that management consider the
possible effects on the financial statements, including the adequacy of any re-
lated disclosure, if applicable.

.45 If the accountant determines that the subsequent event is not ade-
quately accounted for in the financial statements or disclosed in the notes, he
or she should follow the guidance in paragraphs .27—.29.

.46 Occasionally, a subsequent event has such a material impact on the
entity that the accountant may wish to include in his or her compilation report
an explanatory paragraph directing the reader's attention to the event and its
effects. Such an emphasis of matter paragraph may be added at the accountant's
discretion, provided that the matter is disclosed in the financial statements. See
paragraphs .25—.26 for additional guidance with respect to emphasis of matter
paragraphs.

Subsequent Discovery of Facts Existing at the Date

of the Report

.47 Subsequent to the date of the report on the financial statements that
the accountant has compiled, he or she may become aware that facts may have
existed at that date that might have caused him or her to believe that informa-
tion supplied by the entity was incorrect, incomplete, or otherwise unsatisfac-
tory had the accountant then been aware of such facts.? Because of the variety
of conditions that might be encountered, some of the procedures contained in
this section are necessarily set out only in general terms; the specific actions to
be taken in a particular case may vary with the circumstances. The accountant
would be well advised to consult with his or her legal counsel when he or she
encounters the circumstances to which this section may apply because of legal
implications that may be involved in actions contemplated herein.

.48 After the date of the accountant's compilation report, the accountant
has no obligation to perform other compilation procedures with respect to the
financial statements, unless new information comes to his or her attention.
However, when the accountant becomes aware of information that relates to
financial statements previously reported on by him or her, but that was not
known to the accountant at the date of the report, (and that is of such a na-
ture and from such a source that the accountant would have investigated it
had it come to his or her attention during the course of the compilation), the

8 For purposes of this section, with respect to compiled financial statements in which the ac-
countant does not report, the submission of the compiled financial statements is the equivalent of the
accountant's compilation or review report date.

9 See footnote 8.
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accountant should, as soon as practicable, undertake to determine whether the
information is reliable and whether the facts existed at the date of the report.
The accountant should discuss the matter with his or her client at whatever
management levels the accountant deems appropriate and request cooperation
in whatever investigation may be necessary. In addition to management, the
accountant may deem it appropriate to discuss the matter with those charged
with governance. If the nature and effect of the matter are such that (a) the
accountant's report or the financial statements would have been affected if the
information had been known to the accountant at the accountant's compila-
tion report date and had not been reflected in the financial statements and (b)
the accountant believes that persons are currently using or are likely to use
the financial statements, and those persons would attach importance to the
information, the accountant should obtain additional or revised information.
Consideration should be given to, among other things, the time elapsed since
the financial statements were issued.

.49 When the accountant has concluded that action should be taken to
prevent further use of the accountant's report or the financial statements, the
accountant should advise his or her client to make appropriate disclosure of the
newly discovered facts and their impact on the financial statements to persons
who are known to be currently using or who are likely to use the financial
statements. When the client undertakes to make appropriate disclosure, the
method used and the disclosure made will depend on the circumstances. For
example

a. if the effect of the subsequently discovered information on the
accountant's report or the financial statements can promptly be
determined, disclosure should consist of issuing, as soon as prac-
ticable, revised financial statements and, when applicable, the
accountant's report. The reasons for the revision usually should
be described in a note to the financial statements and, when appli-
cable, referred to in the accountant's report. Generally, only the
most recently issued compiled financial statements would need
to be revised, even though the revision resulted from events that
had occurred in prior years.

b. when issuance of financial statements for a subsequent period is
imminent, so that disclosure is not delayed, appropriate disclo-
sure of the revision can be made in such statements instead of
reissuing the earlier statements, pursuant to subparagraph (a).

c. when the effect on the financial statements of the subsequently
discovered information cannot be promptly determined, the is-
suance of revised financial statements would necessarily be de-
layed. In this circumstance, when it appears that the informa-
tion will require a revision of the statements, appropriate disclo-
sure would consist of notification by the client to persons who are
known to be using or who are likely to use the financial state-
ments that the statements should not be used; that revised fi-
nancial statements will be issued; and, when applicable, that the
accountant's report will be issued as soon as practicable.

.50 The accountant should take whatever steps he or she deems necessary
to satisfy himself or herself that the client has made the disclosures specified
in paragraph .49.

.51 Ifthe client refuses to make the disclosures specified in paragraph .49,
the accountant should notify the appropriate personnel at the highest levels
within the entity, such as the manager (owner) or those charged with gover-
nance, of such refusal and of the fact that, in the absence of disclosure by the
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client, the accountant will take steps as outlined subsequently to prevent fur-
ther use of the financial statements and, if applicable, the accountant's report.
The steps that can appropriately be taken will depend upon the degree of cer-
tainty of the accountant's knowledge that persons exist who are currently using
or who will use the financial statements and, if applicable, the accountant's re-
port and who would attach importance to the information and the accountant's
ability as a practical matter to communicate with them. Unless the accoun-
tant's attorney recommends a different course of action, the accountant should
take the following steps to the extent applicable:

a. Notification to the client that the accountant's report must no
longer be associated with the financial statements.

b. Notification to the regulatory agencies having jurisdiction over
the client that the accountant's report should no longer be used.

c. Notification to each person known to the accountant to be using
the financial statements that the financial statements and the ac-
countant's report should no longer be used. In many instances, it
will not be practicable for the accountant to give appropriate indi-
vidual notification to stakeholders whose identities ordinarily are
unknown to him or her; notification to a regulatory agency hav-
ing jurisdiction over the client will usually be the only practicable
way for the accountant to provide appropriate disclosure. Such
notification should be accompanied by a request that the agency
take whatever steps it may deem appropriate to accomplish the
necessary disclosure.

.52 The following guidelines should govern the content of any disclosure
made by the accountant in accordance with paragraph .51, to persons other
than his or her client:

a. The disclosure should include a description of the nature of the
subsequently acquired information and its effect on the financial
statements.

b. The information disclosed should be as precise and factual as pos-
sible and should not go beyond that which is reasonably necessary
to accomplish the purpose mentioned in the preceding subpara-
graph (a). Comments concerning the conduct or motives of any
person should be avoided.

If the client has not cooperated, the accountant's disclosure need not detail the
specific information but can merely indicate that the client has not cooperated
with the accountant's attempt to substantiate information that has come to the
accountant's attention and that, if the information is true, the accountant be-
lieves that the compilation report must no longer be used or associated with the
financial statements. No such disclosure should be made unless the accountant
believes that the financial statements are likely to be misleading and that the
accountant's compilation report should not be used.

Supplementary Information

.53 When the basic financial statements are accompanied by information
presented for supplementary analysis purposes, the accountant should clearly
indicate the degree of responsibility, if any, he or she is taking with respect to
such information. When the accountant has compiled both the basic financial
statements and other data presented only for supplementary analysis purposes,
the compilation report should refer to the other data, or the accountant can issue
a separate report on the other data. If a separate report is issued, the report
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should state that the other data accompanying the financial statements are
presented only for the purposes of additional analysis, and that the information
has been compiled from information that is the representation of management,
without audit or review, and that the accountant does not express an opinion
or provide any assurance on such data.

Communicating to Management and Others

.54 When evidence or information comes to the accountant's attention dur-
ing the performance of compilation procedures that fraud or an illegal act may
have occurred, that matter should be brought to the attention of the appropriate
level of management. The accountant need not report matters regarding ille-
gal acts that are clearly inconsequential and may reach agreement in advance
with the entity on the nature of such items to be communicated. When matters
regarding fraud or an illegal act involve senior management, the accountant
should report the matter to an individual or group at a higher level within the
entity, such as the manager (owner) or those charged with governance. The com-
munication may be oral or written. If the communication is oral, the accountant
should document it. When matters regarding fraud or an illegal act involve an
owner of the business, the accountant should consider resigning from the en-
gagement. Additionally, the accountant should consider consulting with his or
her legal counsel whenever any evidence or information comes to his or her
attention during the performance of compilation procedures that fraud or an
illegal act may have occurred, unless such illegal act is clearly inconsequential.

.55 The disclosure of any evidence or information that comes to the accoun-
tant's attention during the performance of compilation procedures that fraud or
an illegal act may have occurred to parties other than the client's senior man-
agement (or those charged with governance, if applicable) ordinarily is not part
of the accountant's responsibility and, ordinarily, would be precluded by the ac-
countant's ethical or legal obligations of confidentiality. The accountant should
recognize, however, that in the following circumstances, a duty to disclose to
parties outside of the entity may exist:

a. To comply with certain legal and regulatory requirements

b. To a successor accountant when the successor decides to commu-
nicate with the predecessor accountant in accordance with section
400, Communications Between Predecessor and Successor Accoun-
tants, regarding acceptance of an engagement to compile or review
the financial statements of a nonissuer

c. Inresponse to a subpoena

Because potential conflicts between the accountant's ethical and legal obliga-
tions for confidentiality of client matters may be complex, the accountant may
wish to consult with legal counsel before discussing matters covered by para-
graph .54 with parties outside the client.

Change in Engagement From Audit or Review
to Compilation

.56 The accountant who has been engaged to audit the financial statements
of a nonissuer in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America or the accountant who has been engaged to review
the financial statements of a nonissuer in accordance with SSARSs may, before
the completion of the audit or review, be requested to change the engagement to
a compilation of financial statements. A request to change the engagement may
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result from a change in circumstances affecting the entity's requirement for an
audit or review; a misunderstanding regarding the nature of an audit, review,
or compilation; or a restriction on the scope of the audit or review, whether
imposed by the client or caused by circumstances.

.57 Before the accountant, who was engaged to perform an audit in ac-
cordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America or a review in accordance with SSARSs, agrees to change the engage-
ment to a compilation, at least the following should be considered:

a. Thereason given for the client's request, particularly the implica-
tions of a restriction on the scope of the audit or review, whether
imposed by the client or by circumstances

b. The additional audit or review effort required to complete the
audit or review

c. The estimated additional cost to complete the audit or review

.58 A change in circumstances that affects the entity's requirement for
an audit or review or a misunderstanding concerning the nature of an audit,
review, or compilation would ordinarily be considered a reasonable basis for
requesting a change in the engagement.

.59 In considering the implications of a restriction on the scope of the au-
dit or review, the accountant should evaluate the possibility that information
affected by the scope restriction may be incorrect, incomplete, or otherwise un-
satisfactory. Nevertheless, when the accountant has been engaged to audit an
entity's financial statements and has been prohibited by the client from cor-
responding with the entity's legal counsel, the accountant ordinarily would be
precluded from issuing a compilation report on the financial statements. If in
an audit or a review engagement, a client does not provide the accountant with
a signed representation letter, the accountant would ordinarily be precluded
from issuing a compilation report on the financial statements.

.60 In all circumstances, if the audit or review procedures are substantially
complete or the cost to complete such procedures is relatively insignificant, the
accountant should consider the propriety of accepting a change in the engage-
ment.

.61 If the accountant concludes, based upon his or her professional judg-
ment, that reasonable justification exists to change the engagement, and if he
or she complies with the standards applicable to a compilation engagement, the
accountant should issue an appropriate compilation report. The report should
not include reference to (a) the original engagement, (b) any audit or review pro-
cedures that may have been performed, or (¢) scope limitations that resulted in
the changed engagement.

Effective Date

.62 This section is effective for compilations of financial statements for
periods ending on or after December 15, 2010. Early implementation of the
requirements and guidance in paragraph .21 is permitted.
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Compilation Exhibit A—lllustrative Engagement Letters

Standard Engagement Letter for a Compilation

[Appropriate Salutation]

This letter is to confirm our understanding of the terms and objectives of our
engagement and the nature and limitations of the services we will provide.

We will perform the following services:

We will compile, from information you provide, the annual [and interim, if
applicable] financial statements of XYZ Company as of and for the year ended
December 31, 20XX, and issue an accountant's report thereon in accordance
with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARSs)
issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA).

The objective of a compilation is to assist you in presenting financial infor-
mation in the form of financial statements. We will utilize information that is
your representation without undertaking to obtain or provide any assurance
that there are no material modifications that should be made to the financial
statements in order for the statements to be in conformity with [the applica-
ble financial reporting framework (for example, accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America)].

You are responsible for

a. the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting frame-
work (for example, accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America)].

b. designing, implementing, and maintaining internal control rel-
evant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements.

c. preventing and detecting fraud

d. identifying and ensuring that the entity complies with the laws
and regulations applicable to its activities.

e. making all financial records and related information available to
us.

We are responsible for conducting the engagement in accordance with SSARSs
issued by the AICPA.

A compilation differs significantly from a review or an audit of financial state-
ments. A compilation does not contemplate performing inquiry, analytical pro-
cedures, or other procedures performed in a review. Additionally, a compilation
does not contemplate obtaining an understanding of the entity's internal con-
trol; assessing fraud risk; testing accounting records by obtaining sufficient
appropriate audit evidence through inspection, observation, confirmation, or
the examination of source documents (for example, cancelled checks or bank
images); or other procedures ordinarily performed in an audit. Accordingly, we
will not express an opinion or provide any assurance regarding the financial
statements being compiled.

Our engagement cannot be relied upon to disclose errors, fraud, or illegal acts.
However, we will inform the appropriate level of management of any material
errors, and of any evidence or information that comes to our attention during
the performance of our compilation procedures that fraud may have occurred.
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In addition, we will report to you any evidence or information that comes to
our attention during the performance of our compilation procedures regarding
illegal acts that may have occurred, unless they are clearly inconsequential.

If, during the period covered by the engagement letter, the accountant's indepen-
dence is or will be impaired, insert the following:

We are not independent with respect to XYZ Company. We will disclose that we
are not independent in our compilation report.

If, for any reason, we are unable to complete the compilation of your financial
statements, we will not issue a report on such statements as a result of this
engagement.

Our fees for these services. ..

We will be pleased to discuss this letter with you at any time. If the foregoing
is in accordance with your understanding, please sign the copy of this letter in
the space provided and return it to us.

Sincerely yours,

[Signature of accountant]
Acknowledged:
XYZ Company

President

Date

§80.63



Compilation of Financial Statements

Engagement Letter for a Compilation of Financial Statements
Not Intended for Third Party Use

[Appropriate Salutation]

This letter is to confirm our understanding of the terms and objectives of our
engagement and the nature and limitations of the services we will provide.

We will perform the following services:

We will compile, from information you provide, the [monthly, quarterly, or other
frequency] financial statements of XYZ Company as of and for the year ended
December 31, 20XX.

The objective of a compilation is to assist you in presenting financial infor-
mation in the form of financial statements. We will utilize information that is
your representation without undertaking to obtain or provide any assurance
that there are no material modifications that should be made to the financial
statements in order for the statements to be in conformity with [the applica-
ble financial reporting framework (for example, accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America)].

You are responsible for

a. the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting frame-
work (for example, accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America)].

b. designing, implementing, and maintaining internal control rel-
evant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements.

c. preventing and detecting fraud.

identifying and ensuring that the entity complies with the laws
and regulations applicable to its activities.

e. making all financial records and related information available to
us.

We are responsible for conducting the engagement in accordance with State-
ments on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

A compilation differs significantly from a review or an audit of financial state-
ments. A compilation does not contemplate performing inquiry, analytical pro-
cedures, or other procedures performed in a review. Additionally, a compilation
does not contemplate obtaining an understanding of the entity's internal con-
trol; assessing fraud risk; testing accounting records by obtaining sufficient
appropriate audit evidence through inspection, observation, confirmation, or
the examination of source documents (for example, cancelled checks or bank
images); or other procedures ordinarily performed in an audit. Accordingly, we
will not express an opinion or provide any assurance regarding the financial
statements being compiled.

Our engagement cannot be relied upon to disclose errors, fraud, or illegal acts.
However, we will inform the appropriate level of management of any material
errors, and of any evidence or information that comes to our attention during
the performance of our compilation procedures that fraud may have occurred.
In addition, we will report to you any evidence or information that comes to
our attention during the performance of our compilation procedures regarding
illegal acts that may have occurred, unless they are clearly inconsequential.
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The financial statements will not be accompanied by a report and are for man-
agement's use only and are not to be used by a third party.

If, during the period covered by the engagement letter, the accountant's indepen-
dence is or will be impaired, insert the following:
We are not independent with respect to XYZ Company.

Our fees for these services. ..

We will be pleased to discuss this letter with you at any time. If the foregoing
is in accordance with your understanding, please sign the copy of this letter in
the space provided and return it to us.

Sincerely yours,

[Signature of accountant]
Acknowledged:
XYZ Company

President

Date
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.64

Compilation Exhibit B—lllustrative Compilation Reports

Standard compilation report on financial statements prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America

Accountant’s Compilation Report
[Appropriate Salutation]

I (we) have compiled the accompanying balance sheet of XYZ Company
as of December 31, 20XX, and the related statements of income, retained
earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended. I (we) have not audited or
reviewed the accompanying financial statements and, accordingly, do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance about whether the financial
statements are in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

Management (owners) is (are) responsible for the preparation and fair pre-
sentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting princi-
ples generally accepted in the United States of America and for designing,
implementing, and maintaining internal control relevant to the prepara-
tion and fair presentation of the financial statements.

My (our) responsibility is to conduct the compilation in accordance with
Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The objective of a
compilation is to assist management in presenting financial information in
the form of financial statements without undertaking to obtain or provide
any assurance that there are no material modifications that should be made
to the financial statements.

[Signature of accounting firm or accountant, as appropriate]
[Date]

Standard accountant's compilation report on financial statements prepared in
accordance with the cash basis of accounting

Accountant’s Compilation Report
[Appropriate Salutation]

I (we) have compiled the accompanying statement of assets and liabilities
arising from cash transactions of XYZ Company as of December 31, 20XX,
and the related statement of revenue collected and expenses paid for the
year then ended. I (we) have not audited or reviewed the accompanying
financial statements and, accordingly, do not express an opinion or provide
any assurance about whether the financial statements are in accordance
with the cash basis of accounting.

Management (owners) is (are) responsible for the preparation and fair pre-
sentation of the financial statements in accordance with the cash basis
of accounting and for designing, implementing, and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements.

My (our) responsibility is to conduct the compilation in accordance with
Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The objective of a
compilation is to assist management in presenting financial information in
the form of financial statements without undertaking to obtain or provide
any assurance that there are no material modifications that should be made
to the financial statements.
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[Signature of accounting firm or accountant, as appropriate]
[Date]

Paragraph the accountant may add after the conclusion paragraph when man-
agement has elected to omit substantially all disclosures, but the financial state-
ments are otherwise in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America

Management has elected to omit substantially all of the disclosures re-
quired by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. If the omitted disclosures were included in the financial state-
ments, they might influence the user's conclusions about the company's
financial position, results of operations, and cash flows. Accordingly, the
financial statements are not designed for those who are not informed about
such matters.

Paragraph the accountant may add after the conclusion paragraph when man-
agement has elected to omit substantially all disclosures, but the financial state-
ments are otherwise in conformity with the income tax basis of accounting

Management has elected to omit substantially all of the disclosures ordi-
narily included in financial statements prepared in accordance with the
income tax basis of accounting. If the omitted disclosures were included
in the financial statements, they might influence the user's conclusions
about the company's assets, liabilities, equity, revenue, and expenses. Ac-
cordingly, the financial statements are not designed for those who are not
informed about such matters.

Accountant's compilation report on financial statements prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
when the accountant's independence has been impaired, and the accountant
determines to not disclose the reason for the independence impairment

Accountant’s Compilation Report
[Appropriate Salutation]

I (we) have compiled the accompanying balance sheet of XYZ Company
as of December 31, 20XX, and the related statements of income, retained
earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended. I (we) have not audited or
reviewed the accompanying financial statements and, accordingly, do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance about whether the financial
statements are in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

Management (owners) is (are) responsible for the preparation and fair pre-
sentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting princi-
ples generally accepted in the United States of America and for designing,
implementing, and maintaining internal control relevant to the prepara-
tion and fair presentation of the financial statements.
My (our) responsibility is to conduct the compilation in accordance with
Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The objective of a
compilation is to assist management in presenting financial information in
the form of financial statements without undertaking to obtain or provide
any assurance that there are no material modifications that should be made
to the financial statements.
I am (we are) not independent with respect to XYZ Company.

[Signature of accounting firm or accountant, as appropriate]

[Date]
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Accountant's compilation report on financial statements prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
when the accountant's independence has been impaired due to the accountant
having a financial interest in the client, and the accountant decides to disclose
the reason for the independence impairment

Accountant’s Compilation Report
[Appropriate Salutation]

I (we) have compiled the accompanying balance sheet of XYZ Company
as of December 31, 20XX, and the related statements of income, retained
earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended. I (we) have not audited or
reviewed the accompanying financial statements and, accordingly, do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance about whether the financial
statements are in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

Management (owners) is (are) responsible for the preparation and fair pre-
sentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting princi-
ples generally accepted in the United States of America and for designing,
implementing, and maintaining internal control relevant to the prepara-
tion and fair presentation of the financial statements.

My (our) responsibility is to conduct the compilation in accordance with
Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The objective of a
compilation is to assist management in presenting financial information in
the form of financial statements without undertaking to obtain or provide
any assurance that there are no material modifications that should be made
to the financial statements.

I am (we are) not independent with respect to XYZ Company as during the
year ended December 31, 20XX, I (a member of the engagement team) had
a direct financial interest in XYZ Company.

[Signature of accounting firm or accountant, as appropriate]
[Date]

Accountant's compilation report on financial statements disclosing a departure
from accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America

Accountant’s Compilation Report
[Appropriate Salutation]

I (we) have compiled the accompanying balance sheet of XYZ Company
as of December 31, 20XX, and the related statements of income, retained
earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended. I (we) have not audited or
reviewed the accompanying financial statements and, accordingly, do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance about whether the financial
statements are in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

Management (owners) is (are) responsible for the preparation and fair pre-
sentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting princi-
ples generally accepted in the United States of America and for designing,
implementing, and maintaining internal control relevant to the prepara-
tion and fair presentation of the financial statements.

My (our) responsibility is to conduct the compilation in accordance with
Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The objective of a
compilation is to assist management in presenting financial information
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in the form of financial statements without undertaking to obtain or pro-
vide any assurance that there are no material modifications that should
be made to the financial statements. During our compilation, I (we) did be-
come aware of a departure (certain departures) from accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America that is (are) described
in the following paragraph.

As disclosed in Note X to the financial statements, accounting princi-
ples generally accepted in the United States of America require that land
be stated at cost. Management has informed me (us) that the company
has stated its land at appraised value and that, if accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America had been followed,
the land account and stockholders' equity would have been decreased by
$500,000.
or

A statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 20XX, has not
been presented. Accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America require that such a statement be presented when finan-
cial stlatements purport to present financial position and results of opera-
tions.

[Signature of accounting firm or accountant, as appropriatel
[Datel

1 If a statement of cash flows is not presented, the first paragraph of the accountant's compilation
report should be modified accordingly.
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AR Section 9080

Compilation of Financial Statements:
Accounting and Review Services
Interpretations of Section 80

1. Reporting When There Are Significant Departures From the Applicable
Financial Reporting Framework

.01 Question—When the financial statements include significant depar-
tures from the applicable financial reporting framework, may the accountant
modify his or her standard report in accordance with paragraphs .27—.29 of
section 80, Compilation of Financial Statements, to include a statement that
the financial statements are not in conformity with the applicable financial
reporting framework?

.02 Interpretation—No. Including such a statement in the accountant's
compilation report would be tantamount to expressing an adverse opinion on
the financial statements as a whole. Such an opinion can be expressed only in
the context of an audit engagement.

.03 However, paragraph .25 of section 80 states that an accountant may
emphasize, in any report on financial statements, a matter disclosed in the
financial statements. The accountant may wish, therefore, to emphasize the
limitations of the financial statements in a separate paragraph of his or her
compilation report, depending on his or her assessment of the possible dol-
lar magnitude of the effects of the departures, the significance of the affected
items to the entity, the pervasiveness and overall impact of the misstatements,
and whether disclosure has been made of the effects of the departures. Such
separate paragraph, which would follow the other modifications of his or her
report (see illustrations in Compilation Exhibit B, "Illustrative Compilation
Reports"), might read as follows (the illustration assumes that the accountant
is reporting on financial statements in which there are significant departures
from accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America):

Because the significance and pervasiveness of the matters previously discussed
makes it difficult to assess their impact on the financial statements as a whole,
users of these financial statements should recognize that they might reach dif-
ferent conclusions about the company's financial position, results of operations,
and cash flows if they had access to revised financial statements prepared in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America.

.04 Interpretation—Inclusion of such a separate paragraph in the accoun-
tant's compilation report is not a substitute for disclosure of the specific de-
partures or the effects of such departures when they have been determined by
management or are known as a result of the accountant's procedures.

[Issue Date: August 1981; Revised: November 2002; Revised: May 2004;
Revised: July 2005; Revised: December 2010 to conform to SSARS No. 19
(formerly Interpretation No. 7 to section 100).]
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2. Reporting on Tax Returns

.05 Question—May an accountant comply with a request from a nonissuer
to issue a compilation report on financial information contained in a tax return,
as in Form 1040, U.S. Individual Income Tax Return, or Form 1120, U.S. Corpo-
ration Income Tax Return, or in an information return, as in Form 990, Return
of Organization Exempt from Income Tax; Form 1065, U.S. Partnership Return
of Income; or Form 5500, Return of Employee Benefit Plan?

.06 Interpretation—Yes. Although paragraph .01 of section 80 states that
the section establishes standards and provides guidance on compilations of
financial statements and financial information included in a tax return is not
included in the definition of financial statements, an accountant may decide to
accept an engagement to issue a compilation report on such a return. In that
case, the performance and reporting requirements of section 80 would apply.

[Issue Date: November 1982; Revised: February 2008; Revised: December
2010 to conform to SSARS No. 19 (formerly Interpretation No. 10 to
section 100).]

3. Additional Procedures Performed in a Compilation Engagement

.07 Question—If an accountant performs procedures customarily per-
formed in a review or audit but not in a compilation, is the accountant required
to change the engagement to a review or an audit?

.08 Interpretation—No. Paragraph .13 of section 80 states that in a compi-
lation engagement the accountant is not required to make inquiries or perform
other procedures to verify, corroborate, or review information supplied by the
entity. However, the accountant is not precluded from making inquiries or per-
forming additional procedures.

.09 The wording of confirmation requests or other communications related
to additional procedures performed in the course of a compilation engagement
should not use phrases such as "as part of an audit of the financial statements"
(emphasis supplied).

[Issue Date: March 1983; Revised: October 2000; Revised: November 2002;
Revised: May 2004; Revised: December 2010 to conform to SSARS No. 19
(formerly Interpretation No. 13 to section 100).]

4. Differentiating a Financial Statement Presentation From a Trial Balance

.10 Question—Paragraph .01 of section 80 states that the accountant is re-
quired to comply with the provisions of section 80 whenever he or she is engaged
to report on compiled financial statements or submits financial statements to
a client or third parties. What attributes should an accountant consider when
differentiating a financial statement from a trial balance to determine if he or
she is required to comply with the provisions of section 80?

.11 Interpretation—The accountant may consider, among other matters,
the following attributes when determining whether a financial presentation is
a financial statement or a trial balance:

® Generally, a financial statement features the combination of
similar general ledger accounts to create classifications or ac-
count groupings with corresponding subtotals and totals of dollar
amounts. Some examples of these classifications or account group-
ings are current assets, long-term debt, and revenues. In addition,
contra accounts are generally netted against the related primary
accounts in financial statement presentations (that is, "Accounts
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Receivable Net of Allowance for Bad Debts"). In contrast, a trial
balance consists of a listing of all of the general ledger accounts
and their corresponding debit or credit balances.

Financial statements generally contain titles that identify the pre-
sentation as one intended to present financial position, results of
operations, or cash flows. Typical titles for financial statements
include the following:

— Balance Sheet

— Statement of Income or Statement of Operations
— Statement of Comprehensive Income

— Statement of Retained Earnings

— Statement of Cash Flows

— Statement of Changes in Owners' Equity

— Statement of Assets and Liabilities (with or without own-
ers' equity accounts)

— Statement of Revenue and Expenses

— Statement of Financial Position

— Statement of Activities

— Summary of Operations

— Statement of Operations by Product Lines

— Statement of Cash Receipts and Disbursements

Examples of typical titles for trial balance presentations are as
follows:

— Trial Balance

— Working Trial Balance

— Adjusted Trial Balance

— Listing of General Ledger Accounts

The balance sheet in a set of financial statements segregates asset,
liability, and owners' equity accounts and presents these three
elements based on the following basic example equation:

Assets = Liabilities + Owners' Equity

The elements of the income statement and their relationship to
net income are presented based on the following basic example
equation:

Revenues — Expenses + Gains — Losses = Net Income

In a trial balance, no attempt is made to establish a mathematical
relationship among the elements except that total debits equal
total credits.

The income statement in a set of financial statements generally
contains a caption such as "Net Income" or "Net Revenues Over
Expenses" that identifies the net results of operations. Trial bal-
ance presentations generally do not contain similar captions.
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® The balance sheet in a set of financial statements usually presents
assets in the order of their liquidity and liabilities in the order of
their maturity. In a trial balance, the accounts are generally listed
in account number order as they appear in the general ledger.

® In a set of financial statements, the income statement articulates
with the balance sheet because the net results of operations are
added to or subtracted from opening retained earnings. In a trial
balance, the net results of operations are generally not closed out
to retained earnings.

.12 The accountant's use of judgment is important when considering these
attributes to determine whether the financial presentation constitutes a fi-
nancial statement or a trial balance. When making this determination, the
accountant may consider the preponderance of the attributes of the financial
presentation. For example, a trial balance that contains one or two attributes
of a financial statement may, in the accountant's judgment, still constitute a
trial balance. When the presentation is deemed to be a financial statement, the
accountant, at a minimum, should compile the financial statements in accor-
dance with section 80 when he or she submits such financial statements to his
or her client or third parties.

[Issue Date: September 1990; Revised: October 2000; Revised:
February 2008; Revised: December 2010 to conform to SSARS No. 19
(formerly Interpretation No. 15 to section 100).]

5. Submitting Draft Financial Statements

.13 Question—Accountants frequently submit draft financial statements
(a) because information needed to complete a compilation of the financial state-
ments will not be available until a later date, or (b) to provide the client with the
opportunity to read and analyze the financial statements prior to their final is-
suance. Is it permissible for the accountant to submit draft financial statements
without intending to comply with the reporting provisions of section 80?

.14 Interpretation—Except in those instances in which the financial state-
ments are not expected to be used by a third party, as permitted under para-
graphs .22—.24 of section 80, an accountant is precluded from submitting draft
financial statements unless he or she intends to submit those financial state-
ments in final form accompanied by an appropriate compilation report pre-
scribed by section 80. However, as long as the accountant intends to issue a
compilation report on the financial statements in final form and labels each
page of draft financial statements with words such as "Draft," "Preliminary
Draft," "Draft—Subject to Changes," or "Working Draft," the accountant is not
required to comply with the reporting provisions of section 80 with respect to
those draft financial statements. In the rare circumstance in which the accoun-
tant intended to but never submitted final financial statements, the accountant
may want to document the reasons why he or she was unable to submit financial
statements in final form accompanied by an appropriate compilation report.

[Issue Date: September 1990; Revised: October 2000; Revised: December 2010
to conform to SSARS No. 19 (formerly Interpretation No. 17 to section 100).]

6. Reporting When Financial Statements Contain a Departure From
Promulgated Accounting Principles That Prevents the Financial Statements
From Being Misleading

.15 Question—Rule 203, Accounting Principles (ET sec. 203 par. .01), of
the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct states
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A member shall not (1) express an opinion or state affirmatively that the finan-
cial statements or other financial data of any entity are presented in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles or (2) state that he or she is not
aware of any material modifications that should be made to such statements or
data in order for them to be in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles, if such statements or data contain any departure from an accounting
principle promulgated by bodies designated by Council to establish such prin-
ciples that has a material effect on the statements or data taken as a whole.
If, however, the statements or data contain such a departure and the member
can demonstrate that due to unusual circumstances the financial statements
or data would otherwise have been misleading, the member can comply with
the rule by describing the departure, its approximate effects, if practicable, and
the reasons why compliance with the principle would result in a misleading
statement.

Paragraphs .27-.29 of section 80 do not address the Rule 203 circumstances.
When the circumstances contemplated by Rule 203 are present, how should the
accountant report on the information described in the rule?

.16 Interpretation—Rule 203 does not apply to engagements to report on
a compiled financial statements. Accordingly, when the accountant is reporting
on a compiled financial statements and is confronted with the circumstances
contemplated by Rule 203, the guidance in paragraphs .27—.29 of section 80
pertaining to departures from generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)
should be followed.

[Issue Date: February 1991; Revised: October 2000; Revised: November 2002;
Revised: May 2004; Revised: July 2005; Revised: December 2010 to conform to
SSARS No. 19 (formerly Interpretation No. 19 to section 100).]

7. Applicability of Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review
Services to Litigation Services

.17 Question—When are litigation services excluded from the applicability
of Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARSs)?

.18 Interpretation—SSARSSs do not apply to financial statements submit-
ted in conjunction with litigation services that involve pending or potential
formal legal or regulatory proceedings before a "trier of fact" in connection with
the resolution of a dispute between two or more parties when the

service consists of being an expert witness.
b.  service consists of being a "trier of fact" or acting on behalf of one.

c¢. accountant's work under the rules of the proceedings is subject to
detailed analysis and challenge by each party to the dispute.

d. accountant is engaged by an attorney to do work that will be
protected by the attorney's work product privilege, and such work
is not intended to be used for other purposes.

When performing such litigation services, the accountant should comply with
Rule 201, General Standards (ET sec. 201 par. .01).

.19 Question—When do SSARSs apply to litigation service engagements?

.20 Interpretation—SSARSs apply to litigation service engagements when
the accountant

a. submits unaudited financial statements of a nonissuer that
are the representation of management (owners) to others who,
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under the rules of the proceedings, do not have the opportunity
to analyze and challenge the accountant's work, or

b.  is specifically engaged to submit, in accordance with SSARSS, fi-
nancial statements that are the representation of management
(owners).

[Issue Date: May 1991; Revised: October 2000; Revised: February 2008;
Revised: December 2010 to conform to SSARS No. 19 (formerly Interpretation
No. 20 to section 100).]

8. Applicability of Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review
Services When Performing Controllership or Other Management Services

.21 Question—Ifthe accountant is in the practice of public accounting and
provides an entity with controllership or other management services that entail
the submission of financial statements, is the accountant required to follow the
requirements of section 807

.22 Interpretation—Ifthe accountant is in the practice of public accounting
as defined in paragraph .29 of ET section 92, Definitions, of the AICPA Code
of Professional Conduct and is not a stockholder, partner, director, officer, or
employee of the entity, the accountant is required to follow the performance
and communication requirements of section 80, including any requirement to
disclose a lack of independence.

.23 If the accountant is in the practice of public accounting and is also a
stockholder, partner, director, officer, or employee of the entity, the accountant
may either (a) comply with the requirements of section 80, or (b) communicate,
preferably in writing, the accountant's relationship to the entity (for example,
stockholder, partner, director, officer, or employee). The following is an example
of the type of communication that may be used by the accountant:

The accompanying balance sheet of Company X as of December 31, 20XX, and
the related statements of income and cash flows for the year then ended have
been prepared by [name of accountant], CPA. I have prepared such financial
statements in my capacity [describe capacity, for example, as a director] of Com-
pany X.

.24 Ifanaccountantis notin the practice of public accounting, the issuance
of a report under SSARSs would be inappropriate; however, the previously
mentioned communication may be used.

[Issue Date: July 2002; Revised: December 2010 to conform to SSARS No. 19
(formerly Interpretation No. 21 to section 100).]

9. Use of the Label ”Selected Information—Substantially All Disclosures
Required by [the applicable financial reporting framework] Are Not
Included” in Compiled Financial Statements

.25 Question—Can an accountant label notes to the financial statements
"Selected Information—Substantially All Disclosures Required by [identify the
applicable financial reporting framework (for example, accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America")] Are Not Included" when
the client includes more than a few required disclosures?

.26 Interpretation—No. As discussed in paragraph .20 of section 80, when
the entity wishes to include disclosures about only a few matters in the form of
notes to the financial statements, such disclosures should be labeled "Selected
Information—Substantially All Disclosures Required by [identify the applica-
ble financial reporting framework (for example "accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America")] Are Not Included."
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.27 When the financial statements include more than a few disclosures,
this guidance is not appropriate. The omission of one or more notes, when sub-
stantially all other disclosures are presented, should be treated in a compi-
lation report like any other departure from the applicable financial reporting
framework, and the nature of the departure and its effects, if known, should
be disclosed in accordance with paragraphs .27—.29 of section 80. The label
"Selected Information—Substantially All Disclosures Required by [identify the
applicable financial reporting framework (for example "accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America")] Are Not Included" is not
intended to be used for the omission of (intentionally or unintentionally) one or
more specific disclosures. In determining whether use of the label is appropri-
ate, the accountant needs to apply professional judgment to all the facts and
circumstances.

[Issue Date: December 2002; Revised: December 2010 to conform to SSARS
No. 19 (formerly Interpretation No. 22 to section 100).]

10. Omission of the Display of Comprehensive Income in Compiled
Financial Statements

.28 Question—When an element of comprehensive income is present, can
the display of comprehensive income be omitted when issuing a compilation
report on financial statements that omit substantially all disclosures required
by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America?

.29 Interpretation—Yes. Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 220, Comprehensive Income, requires
the display of comprehensive income when a full set of financial statements is
presented in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. However, the display of comprehensive income may
be omitted by identifying the omission in the compilation report or, if the en-
gagement is to compile financial statements that are not expected to be used by
a third party and the accountant does not report on those financial statements,
in the engagement letter. The following is suggested modified wording (shown
in italic) to the paragraph in the compilation report:

Management has elected to omit substantially all the disclosures, (the state-
ment of cash flows, if applicable,) and the display of comprehensive income
required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. If the omitted disclosures, (the statement of cash flows, if applica-
ble,) and the display of comprehensive income were included in the financial
statements, they might influence the user's conclusions about the company's
financial position, results of operations, and cash flows. Accordingly, these fi-
nancial statements are not designed for those who are not informed about such
matters.

.30 If the accountant compiles financial statements that include sub-
stantially all disclosures required by accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America but omit the display of comprehensive income,
the omission is a departure from accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America.

.31 Additionally, if an element of comprehensive income has not been com-
puted, for example, unrealized gains and losses arising from investments in
marketable securities classified as "available for sale," then the accountant
should consider a departure from accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America and follow the guidance in paragraphs .27—.29 of
section 80.
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[Issue Date: September 2003; Revised: May 2004; Revised: July 2005;
Revised: June 2009; Revised: December 2010 to conform to SSARS No. 19
(formerly Interpretation No. 25 to section 100).]

11. Special-Purpose Financial Statements to Comply With Contractual
Agreements or Regulatory Provisions

.32 Question—An accountant may be asked to compile special-purpose
financial statements prepared to comply with a contractual agreement or reg-
ulatory provision that specifies a special basis of presentation. In most circum-
stances, these financial statements are intended solely for the use of the parties
to the agreement, regulatory bodies, or other specified parties. How should the
accountant modify the standard compilation report when reporting on these
compiled special-purpose financial statements?

.33 Interpretation—An accountant who is asked to compile special-
purpose financial statements prepared to comply with a contractual agreement
or a regulatory provision that specifies a special basis of presentation may issue
a compilation report on those financial statements in accordance with section
80 as described in this interpretation. This interpretation describes reporting
on

a. special-purpose financial statements prepared in compliance with
a contractual agreement or regulatory provision that does not
constitute a complete presentation of the entity's assets, liabili-
ties, revenues, and expenses, but is otherwise prepared in confor-
mity with GAAP or an other comprehensive basis of accounting
(OCBOA), or

b. a special-purpose financial presentation (may be a complete set
of financial statements or a single financial statement) prepared
on a basis of accounting prescribed in an agreement that does not
result in a presentation in conformity with GAAP or an OCBOA.

Financial Statements Prepared on a Basis of Accounting Prescribed in a
Contractual Agreement or Regulatory Provision That Results in an
Incomplete Presentation but One That Is Otherwise in Conformity With
GAAP or an OCBOA

.34 An entity may engage an accountant to compile a special-purpose
financial statement prepared in compliance with a contractual agreement or
regulatory provision that does not constitute a complete presentation of the
entity's assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenses, but is otherwise prepared in
conformity with GAAP or an OCBOA. For example, a governmental agency
may require a statement of gross income and certain expenses of an entity's
real estate operation in which income and expenses are measured in conformity
with GAAP, but expenses are defined to exclude certain items such as interest,
depreciation, and income taxes. Such a statement may also present the excess
of gross income over defined expenses. Also, a buy-sell agreement may specify
a statement of gross assets and liabilities of the entity measured in conformity
with GAAP, but limited to the assets to be sold and liabilities to be transferred
pursuant to the agreement.

.35 When the accountant submits compiled special-purpose financial
statements prepared on a basis of accounting prescribed in a contractual agree-
ment or regulatory provision that results in an incomplete presentation but
one that is otherwise prepared in conformity with GAAP or an OCBOA, the
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accountant's report should be modified to include a separate paragraph with
the following information:

An explanation of what the financial statement is intended to
present and a reference to the note to the special-purpose financial
statement that describes the basis of presentation

If the basis of presentation is in conformity with GAAP or an
OCBOA, a statement that the presentation is not intended to be a
complete presentation of the entity's assets, liabilities, revenues,
and expenses

A separate paragraph at the end of the report stating that the re-
port is intended solely for the information and use of those within
the entity, the parties to the contract or agreement, the regulatory
agency with which the report is being filed, or those with whom
the entity is negotiating directly, and is not intended to be and
should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties

.36 The following is an illustrative example of a compilation report on
special-purpose financial statements:

I (we) have compiled the accompanying statement of net assets sold of XYZ
Company as of December 31, 20X1. I (we) have not audited or reviewed the
accompanying statement of net assets sold and, accordingly, do not express an
opinion or provide any assurance about whether the statement of net assets
sold is in accordance with the purchase agreement described in Note A.

Management (owners) is (are) responsible for the preparation and fair pre-
sentation of the statement of net assets sold in accordance with the purchase
agreement described in Note A and for designing, implementing, and main-
taining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
the statement of net assets sold.

My (our) responsibility is to conduct the compilation in accordance with State-
ments on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The objective of a compilation is to
assist management in presenting financial information in the form of financial
statements without undertaking to obtain or provide any assurance that there
are no material modifications that should be made to the financial statements.

The accompanying statement was prepared for the purpose of presenting the
net assets of XYZ Company sold to ABC Company pursuant to the purchase
agreement described in Note A, and is not intended to be a complete presenta-
tion of XYZ Company's assets and liabilities.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of [¢he specified par-
ties] and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than
these specified parties.

Financial Statements Prepared on a Basis of Accounting Prescribed in an
Agreement That Results in a Presentation That Is Not in Conformity With
GAAP or an OCBOA

.37 An entity may engage an accountant to compile a special-purpose
financial statement prepared in conformity with a basis of accounting that
departs from GAAP or an OCBOA. A loan agreement, for example, may require
the borrower to prepare consolidated financial statements in which assets, such
as inventory, are presented on a basis that is not in conformity with GAAP or an
OCBOA. Also, an acquisition agreement may require the financial statements of
the entity being acquired (or a segment of it) to be prepared in conformity with
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GAAP except for certain assets, such as receivables, inventories, and properties
for which a valuation basis is specified in the agreement.

.38 Financial statements prepared under a basis of accounting as dis-
cussed in the preceding are not considered to be prepared in conformity with
an OCBOA because the criteria used to prepare such financial statements do
not meet the requirement of "having substantial support," even though the
criteria are definite.

.39 When the accountant submits compiled special-purpose financial
statements prepared on a basis of accounting prescribed in an agreement that
results in a presentation that is not in conformity with GAAP or an OCBOA, the
accountant's report should be modified to include a separate paragraph with
the following information:

® Anexplanation of what the presentation is intended to present and
a reference to the note to the special-purpose financial statements
that describes the basis of presentation.

® A statement that the financial statement is not intended to be a
presentation in conformity with GAAP or an OCBOA.

® A description and the source of significant interpretations, if any,
made by the company's management relating to the provisions of
a relevant agreement.

® A separate paragraph at the end of the report stating that the re-
port is intended solely for the information and use of those within
the entity, the parties to the contract or agreement, the regulatory
agency with which the report is being filed, or those with whom
the entity is negotiating directly, and is not intended to be and
should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.
For example, if the financial statements have been prepared for
the specified purpose of obtaining bank financing, the report's use
should be restricted to the various banks with whom the entity is
negotiating the proposed financing.

.40 The following is an illustrative example of a compilation report on
special-purpose financial statements:

I (we) have compiled the special-purpose statement of assets and liabilities of
XYZ Company as of December 31, 20X1, and the related special-purpose state-
ments of revenue and expenses and of cash flows for the year then ended. I (we)
have not audited or reviewed the accompanying financial statements and, ac-
cordingly, do not express an opinion or provide any assurance about whether the
financial statements are in accordance with the acquisition agreement between
ABC Company and XYZ Company as discussed in Note A.

Management (owners) is (are) responsible for the preparation and fair presen-
tation of the financial statements in accordance with the acquisition agree-
ment between ABC Company and XYZ Company as described in Note A and
for designing, implementing, and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements.

My (our) responsibility is to conduct the compilation in accordance with State-
ments on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The objective of a compilation is to
assist management in presenting financial information in the form of financial
statements without undertaking to obtain or provide any assurance that there
are no material modifications that should be made to the financial statements.
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The accompanying special-purpose financial statements were prepared for the
purpose of complying with the acquisition agreement between ABC Company
and XYZ Company as discussed in Note A, and are not intended to be a presen-
tation in conformity with GAAP.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of [the specified par-
ties] and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than
these specified parties.

[Issue Date: December 2006; Revised: December 2010 to conform to SSARS
No. 19 (formerly Interpretation No. 28 to section 100).]

12. Reporting on an Uncertainty, Including an Uncertainty About an
Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern

41 Question—How should an accountant modify the standard compila-
tion report when, during the performance of compilation procedures, evidence
or information comes to the accountant's attention that there may be an uncer-
tainty about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable
period of time, not to exceed one year beyond the date of the financial statements
being compiled?

42 Interpretation—Disclosure requirements with respect to uncertainties
are included in FASB ASC 275, Risks and Uncertainties; FASB ASC 450, Con-
tingencies; and other authoritative accounting literature. However, the account-
ing literature does not provide specific guidance on disclosure of uncertainties
caused by concern about an entity's ability to continue as a going concern. Con-
tinuation of an entity as a going concern is assumed in financial reporting in
the absence of significant information to the contrary. The accountant should
follow the guidance in paragraphs .40—.43 of section 80 with respect to his or
her consideration of the entity's ability to continue as a going concern during
the performance of compilation procedures.

.43 Ifthe accountant concludes that management's disclosure of the uncer-
tainty regarding the entity's ability to continue as a going concern is adequate
but further decides to include an emphasis-of-matter paragraph with respect
to the uncertainty in the accountant's compilation report, he or she may use
the following language:

As discussed in Note X, certain conditions indicate that the Company may be
unable to continue as a going concern. The accompanying financial statements
do not include any adjustments that might be necessary should the Company
be unable to continue as a going concern.

44 Question—Ifthe accountant, while performing a compilation, becomes
aware of a material uncertainty other than a going concern uncertainty (for ex-
ample, an uncertainty regarding pending or threatened litigation), what should
the accountant consider in deciding whether a report modification is necessary?

45 Interpretation—Disclosure requirements with respect to uncertainties
are included in FASB ASC 275, 450, and other authoritative accounting liter-
ature. If the accountant determines that the disclosure of the uncertainty is
not in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework, he or she
should follow the guidance in paragraphs .27—.29 of section 80.

.46 If the accountant concludes that management's disclosure of the un-
certainty is in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework
but further decides to include an emphasis-of-matter paragraph with respect
to the uncertainty in the accountant's compilation report, he or she may use
the following language (the following is assuming that the financial statements
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were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America):

As discussed in Note X, the Company is currently named in a legal action.
The Company has determined that it is not possible to predict the eventual
outcome of the legal action but has determined that the resolution of the action
will not result in an adverse judgment that would materially affect the financial
statements. Accordingly, the accompanying financial statements do not include
any adjustments related to the legal action under FASB ASC 450.

A7 Question—Paragraph .20 of section 80 allows the accountant, when
he or she is requested to do so, to compile financial statements that omit sub-
stantially all of the disclosures required by an applicable financial reporting
framework, provided the omission of substantially all disclosures was not, to
the accountant's knowledge, undertaken with the intention of misleading those
who might reasonably be expected to use such financial statements, and the ac-
countant includes a paragraph in the accountant's compilation report regarding
the omission of substantially all disclosures. Should disclosure of an uncertainty
be considered so significant that it also could never be omitted?

.48 Interpretation—No. The user is adequately warned of the limitations
of the financial statements by the report language required by paragraph .20
of section 80.

[Issue date: February 2007; Revised: February 2008; Amended: December
2008; Revised: June 2009; Revised: December 2010 to conform to SSARS
No. 19 (formerly Interpretation No. 29 to section 100)]

13. Compilations of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With
International Financial Reporting Standards

49 Question—The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has
been designated by the Council of the AICPA as the body to establish interna-
tional financial reporting standards for both private and public entities pur-
suant to Rule 202, Compliance With Standards (ET sec. 202 par. .01), and Rule
203 of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct as of May 18, 2008. As a re-
sult, how would an accountant apply the reporting guidance in section 80 when
engaged to compile financial statements presented in accordance with Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the IASB?

.50 Interpretation—A report illustration of how an accountant would apply
the reporting guidance in section 80 when reporting on financial statements
presented in accordance with IFRSs is as follows:

Accountant's Compilation Report

[Appropriate Salutation]

I (we) have compiled the accompanying balance sheets of XYZ Company as of
December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related statements of income, retained
earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. I (we) have not audited or re-
viewed the accompanying financial statements and, accordingly, do not express
an opinion or provide any assurance about whether the financial statements
are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Management (owners) is (are) responsible for the preparation and fair presen-

tation of the financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards
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Board and for designing, implementing, and maintaining internal control rele-
vant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements.

My (our) responsibility is to conduct the compilation in accordance with State-
ments on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The objective of a compilation is to
assist management in presenting financial information in the form of financial
statements without undertaking to obtain or provide any assurance that there
are no material modifications that should be made to the financial statements.

[Signature of accounting firm or accountant, as appropriate]
[Date]

When the accountant compiles financial statements that omit substantially all
disclosures but are otherwise in conformity with IFRSs as issued by the IASB,
the accountant may wish to modify the third paragraph of the standard report
as follows:

Management has elected to omit substantially all disclosures (and the state-
ment of cash flows) required by International Financial Reporting Standards
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. If the omitted dis-
closures and statement were included in the financial statements, they might
influence the user's conclusions about the company's financial position, results
of operations, and cash flows. Accordingly, these financial statements are not
designed for those who are not informed about such matters.

.51 Question—Unlike accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America as issued by FASB, IFRSs require an entity to dis-
close comparative information in respect of the previous comparative period
for all amounts presented in the current year's financial statements. When
the accountant compiles financial statements that omit prior year information,
should such omission be disclosed in the accountant's compilation report as a
departure from IFRSs as issued by the IASB in accordance with paragraphs
.27-.29 of section 807

.52 Interpretation—Yes. Because IFRSs require an entity to disclose com-
parative information in respect of the previous comparative period for all
amounts presented in the current year's financial statements, the failure to
include such information in financial statements would be a departure from
GAAP. An example of a paragraph that may be added to the accountant's com-
pilation report is as follows:

Comparative information with respect to the year ended December 31, 20XX-1
has not been presented. International Financial Reporting Standards [or [FRSs
for SMEs] as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board require
an entity to disclose comparative information in respect of the previous com-
parative period for all amounts presented in the current year's financial state-
ments.

When the accountant compiles financial statements that omit substantially all
disclosures but are otherwise in conformity with IFRSs as issued by the IASB,
the accountant may wish to modify the third paragraph of the standard report
as follows:

Management has elected to omit substantially all disclosures (and the state-
ment of cash flows and comparative financial information as of and for the year
ended December 31, 20XX-1) required by International Financial Reporting
Standards [or IFRSs for SMEs] as issued by the International Accounting Stan-
dards Board. If the omitted disclosures, statement, and comparative financial
information were included in the financial statements, they might influence
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the user's conclusions about the company's financial position, results of opera-
tions, and cash flows. Accordingly, these financial statements are not designed
for those who are not informed about such matters.

[Issue Date: May 2008; Revised: June 2010; Revised: August 2010; Revised:
December 2010 (formerly Interpretation No. 30 to section 100).]

14. Comepilations of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With a
Financial Reporting Framework Generally Accepted in Another Country

.53 Question—An accountant may be engaged to compile financial state-
ments that have been prepared in conformity with a financial reporting frame-
work generally accepted in another country (including financial statements
prepared in accordance with a jurisdictional variation of IFRSs such that the
entity's financial statements do not contain an explicit and unreserved state-
ment of compliance with IFRSs as issued by the IASB). How should an accoun-
tant apply the reporting requirements of section 80 when reporting on those
financial statements?

.54 Interpretation—If the financial statements are intended for use only
outside of the United States of America, the accountant may report using the
standard form of U.S. compilation report modified as appropriate to identify
the applicable financial reporting framework, or alternatively, the accountant
may report using the standard compilation report form and content of the other
country. (See Interpretation No. 15 with respect to Considerations Related to
Compilations Performed in Accordance with International Standard on Related
Services [ISRS] 4410, Engagements to Compile Financial Statements).”

.55 The standard compilation report used in another country, even when
it appears similar to that used in the United States of America, may convey
a different meaning and entail a different responsibility on the part of the ac-
countant due to custom or culture. Issuing a standard compilation report of
another country may require an understanding of local laws. When issuing the
accountant's standard compilation report of another country, the accountant is
required to obtain an understanding of applicable legal responsibilities, in addi-
tion to the compilation standards and accounting principles generally accepted
in the other country, as indicated in paragraph .11 of section 80. Therefore,
depending on the nature and extent of the accountant's knowledge and experi-
ence, the accountant may wish to consult with persons having expertise in the
reporting practices of the other country and associated legal responsibilities to
obtain the understanding needed to issue that country's standard compilation
report.

.56 If the accountant's report is intended for use in the United States of
America, the reporting requirements described in paragraphs .16—.19 of section
80 would apply. Additionally, paragraph .31 of section 80 states that a need for
restriction on the use of the report may result from a number of circumstances,
including, but not limited to, the purpose of the report and the potential for the
report to be misunderstood when taken out of context in which it was intended
to be used. Because of the nature of the basis of presentation of the financial
statements there is a presumption that the report would be misunderstood or
taken out of context in which it was intended to be used. In such instances, the
accountant may use the following form of report:

“ In March 2012, the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board issued Interna-
tional Standard on Related Services (ISRS) 4410 (Revised), Compilation Engagements, ISRS 4410
(Revised) is effective for compilation engagement reports dated on or after July 1, 2013. [Footnote
added, December 2012, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of ISRS 4410
(Revised).]
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Accountant's Compilation Report

[Appropriate Salutation]

I (we) have compiled the accompanying balance sheets of XYZ Company as of
December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related statements of income, retained
earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. I (we) have not audited or re-
viewed the accompanying financial statements and, accordingly, do not express
an opinion or provide any assurance about whether the financial statements
are in accordance with [the financial reporting framework generally accepted in
another country, including identification of the nationality of the framework].

Management (owners) is (are) responsible for the preparation and fair presen-
tation of the financial statements in accordance with [the financial reporting
framework generally accepted in another country, including identification of the
nationality of the framework] and for designing, implementing, and maintain-
ing internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements.

My (our) responsibility is to conduct the compilation in accordance with State-
ments on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The objective of a compilation is to
assist management in presenting financial information in the form of financial
statements without undertaking to obtain or provide any assurance that there
are no material modifications that should be made to the financial statements.

This report is intended solely for the information and the use of [specified par-
ties] and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than the
specified parties.

[Signature of accounting firm or accountant, as appropriatel
[Date]

.57 When the financial statements will be used both outside of the United
States of America as well as in the United States of America, nothing precludes
the accountant from issuing two reports—a report to be used only outside of the
United States of America and another report to be used in the United States of
America.

[Issue Date: May 2008; Revised: June 2010; Revised: August 2010; Revised:
December 2010 (formerly Interpretation No. 30 to section 100); Revised:
December 2012.]

15. Considerations Related to Compilations Performed in Accordance
With International Standard on Related Services 4410, Engagements to
Compile Financial Statements,” Issued by the International Auditing and
Assurance Standards Board

58 Question—May a U.S. accountant perform a compilation of historical
financial statements of a U.S. entity' in accordance with ISRS 4410* issued
by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB)? The

financial statements may have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs or
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

.59 Interpretation—Yes. An accountant performing a compilation of his-
torical financial statements of a U.S. entity is required to follow the compila-
tion standards as promulgated by the AICPA's Accounting and Review Services

* See footnote * in paragraph .54.
L A US. entity is an entity that is either organized or domiciled in the United States of America.
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Committee. However, those standards do not prohibit an accountant from indi-
cating that the compilation also was conducted in accordance with another set
of compilation standards. In an engagement to compile the historical financial
statements in accordance with ISRS 4410,* the accountant may perform the
compilation in accordance with SSARSs as well as ISRS 4410.* Such a compi-
lation report may read as follows:

I (we) have compiled the accompanying balance sheets of XYZ Company as of
December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related statements of income, retained
earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. I (we) have not audited or re-
viewed the accompanying financial statements and, accordingly, do not express
an opinion or provide any assurance about whether the financial statements
are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Management (owners) is (are) responsible for the preparation and fair presenta-
tion of the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Re-
porting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
and for designing, implementing, and maintaining internal control relevant to
the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements.

My (our) responsibility is to conduct the compilation in accordance with State-
ments on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and in accordance with the Interna-
tional Standard on Related Services (ISRS 4410)" issued by the International
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board applicable to compilation engage-
ments. The objective of a compilation is to assist management in presenting
financial information in the form of financial statements without undertaking
to obtain or provide any assurance that there are no material modifications
that should be made to the financial statements.

.60 Ifthe report is for use only outside of the United States of America, the
accountant is still required to apply SSARSSs, except for requirements related
to report form and content.

[Issue Date: May 2008; Revised: June 2010; Revised: August 2010; Revised:
December 2010 (formerly Interpretation No. 30 to section 100); Revised:
December 2012.]

16. Preparation of Financial Statements for Use by an Entity’s Auditors

.61 Question—Paragraph .22 of section 80 states "When the accountant
submits compiled financial statements to his or her client that are not expected
to be used by a third party, he or she is not required to issue a compilation
report." In the situation in which a client engages an accountant, other than its
auditor, to prepare unaudited financial statements on behalf of management
and those financial statements are provided by management to its outside au-
ditor for the purposes of the annual audit, is the client's outside auditor deemed
to be a third party using the financial statements?

.62 Interpretation—No. Although the client's outside auditor is a third
party, the auditor is not deemed to be using the financial statements. The audi-
tor's role is to apply auditing procedures to those statements in order to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to support his or her opinion on those
statements. Accordingly, the requirements in paragraphs .22—.24 of section 80
are applicable.

* See footnote * in paragraph .54.
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[Issue Date: December 2008; Revised: December 2010 to conform to SSARS
No. 19 (formerly Interpretation No. 31 to section 100).]

17. Required Supplementary Information That Accompanies Compiled
Financial Statements

.63 Question—Paragraph .53 of section 80 addresses situations when the
basic financial statements are accompanied by information presented for sup-
plementary analysis purposes. Certain information presented for supplemen-
tary analysis purposes is required by a body designated by the AICPA Council
to establish GAAP pursuant to Rule 202 and Rule 2032 (hereinafter referred to
as "required supplementary information"). Examples of required supplemen-
tary information that may accompany compiled financial statements include
the following:

® With respect to common interest realty associations, estimates
of current or future costs of major repairs and replacements of
common property that will be required in the future as required
by FASB ASC 972-235-50-3

® Management's discussion and analysis and budgetary compari-
son statements as required by Governmental Accounting Stan-
dards Board Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements—and
Management's Discussion and Analysis—jor State and Local Gov-
ernments.

Is the accountant required to apply procedures to required supplementary in-
formation that accompanies compiled financial statements?

.64 Interpretation—No. SSARSs do not require the accountant to apply
procedures to any information presented for supplementary analysis purposes,
including required supplementary information. However, nothing precludes the
accountant from compiling the required supplementary information if engaged
to do so.

.65 Question—Paragraph .53 of section 80 states that when the basic fi-
nancial statements are accompanied by information presented for supplemen-
tary analysis purposes, the accountant should indicate the degree of respon-
sibility, if any, he or she is taking with respect to such information. How may
an accountant modify the accountant's compilation report to refer to the re-
quired supplementary information and explain the circumstances regarding its
presentation?

.66 Interpretation—The accountant may modify the accountant's compi-
lation report by including a separate paragraph that refers to the required
supplementary information and explains the circumstances regarding its pre-
sentation. That separate paragraph would be presented after the paragraph
describing the accountant's responsibility and may read as follows:

The Required Supplementary Information Is Included and the Accoun-
tant Did Not Compile the Required Supplementary Information

[Identify the applicable financial reporting framework (for example, accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America)] require that

2 The bodies designated by the AICPA Council to establish professional standards with respect
to financial accounting and reporting principles pursuant to these rules are the Financial Accounting
Standards Board, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, the Federal Accounting Standards
Advisory Board, and the International Accounting Standards Board.
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[identify the required supplementary information] on page XX be presented to
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a
part of the basic financial statements, is required by [identify the designated
accounting standard setter] who considers it to be an essential part of finan-
cial reporting and for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. Such information was not audited,
reviewed, or compiled by me (us) and, accordingly, I (we) do not express an
opinion or provide any assurance on it.

The Required Supplementary Information Is Included, the Accountant
Compiled the Required Supplemental Information and No Material
Departures From the Prescribed Guidelines Regarding the Required
Supplementary Information Have Been Identified

[Identify the applicable financial reporting framework (for example, account-
ing principles generally accepted in the United States of America)] require that
[identify the required supplementary information] on page XX be presented to
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a
part of the basic financial statements, is required by [identify the designated
accounting standard setter] who considers it to be an essential part of financial
reporting and for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate op-
erational, economic, or historical context. Such information has been compiled
by me (us) without audit or review and, accordingly, I (we) do not express an
opinion or provide any assurance on it.

All Required Supplementary Information Omitted

Management has omitted [describe the missing required supplementary infor-
mation] that [identify the applicable financial reporting framework (for exam-
ple, accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America)]
require to be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such
missing information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is
required by [identify the designated accounting standard setter] who considers
it to be an essential part of financial reporting and for placing the basic financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.

Some Required Supplementary Information is Omitted and Some Is Pre-
sented in Accordance With the Prescribed Guidelines Regarding the Re-
quired Supplementary Information

[Identify the applicable financial reporting framework (for example, account-
ing principles generally accepted in the United States of America)] require that
[identify the included supplementary information] be presented to supplement
the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the
basic financial statements, is required by [identify designated accounting stan-
dard setter] who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for
placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic,
or historical context. Such information was not audited, reviewed, or compiled
by me (us) and, accordingly, I (we) do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on it.

Management has omitted [describe the missing required supplementary infor-
mation] that [identify the applicable financial reporting framework] require to
be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such missing in-
formation, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required
by lidentify designated accounting standard setter] who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements
in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.
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Material Departures From the Prescribed Guidelines Regarding the Re-
quired Supplementary Information Were Identified While Compiling
the Required Supplementary Information

[Identify the applicable financial reporting framework (for example, accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America)] require that the
[identify the supplementary information] on page XX be presented to supple-
ment the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of
the basic financial statements, is required by [identify designated accounting
standard setter] who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, eco-
nomic, or historical context. Such information was compiled by me (us) without
audit or review and, accordingly, I (we) do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on it. However, during my (our) compilation, I (we) did become aware
of the following material departures from the prescribed guidelines regarding
the required supplementary information [identify the required supplementary
information and describe the material departures from the prescribed guidelines
regarding the required supplementary information].

.67 Question—When required supplementary information is omitted from
financial statements that omit substantially all the disclosures required by
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S.
GAAP), may the accountant combine the paragraph discussing the omission
of substantially all the disclosures, as required by paragraph .20 of section 80,
with the paragraph referring to the omission of the required supplementary
information?

.68 Interpretation—No. Because required supplementary information is
not a part of the basic financial statements and the omitted disclosures (and the
statement of cash flows, if applicable) are required by U.S. GAAP to be included
in the basic financial statements, the report elements required by paragraphs
.20 and .53 of section 80 are not compatible.

[Issue Date: October 2011.]
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AR Section 90
Review of Financial Statements

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: December 2009
Source: SSARS No. 19; SSARS No. 20.

.01 This section establishes standards and provides guidance on reviews of
financial statements. The accountant is required to comply with the provisions
of this section whenever he or she has been engaged to review financial state-
ments, except for reviews of interim financial information if the following are
true:

a. Theentity's latest annual financial statements have been audited
by the accountant or a predecessor.

b. The accountant either

i. has been engaged to audit the entity's current year finan-
cial statements, or

ii. audited the entity's latest annual financial statements
and, when it is expected that the current year financial
statements will be audited, the appointment of another
accountant to audit the current year financial statements
is not effective prior to the beginning of the period covered
by the review.

c. The entity prepares its interim financial information in accor-
dance with the same financial reporting framework as that used
to prepare the annual financial statements.

Accountants engaged to perform reviews of interim financial information when
the conditions in (a)—(c) are met should perform such reviews in accordance
with AU-C section 930, Interim Financial Information. [As amended, effective
for reviews of financial statements for periods beginning after December 15,
2011, by SSARS No. 20. Revised, December 2012, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of SAS Nos. 122-126.]

.02 The accountant is precluded from performing a review engagement if
the accountant's independence is impaired for any reason. In making a judg-
ment about whether he or she is independent, the accountant should be guided
by the AICPA's Code of Professional Conduct.

Establishing an Understanding

.03 The accountant should establish an understanding with management
regarding the services to be performed for review engagements! and should
document the understanding through a written communication with manage-
ment. Such an understanding reduces the risk that either the accountant or

1 See paragraph .29 of QC section 10, A Firm's System of Quality Control. [Footnote revised,
December 2012, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of SQCS No. 8.]
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management may misinterpret the needs or expectations of the other party. For
example, it reduces the risk that management may inappropriately rely on the
accountant to protect the entity against certain risks or to perform certain func-
tions that are management's responsibility. The accountant should ensure that
the understanding includes the objectives of the engagement, management's
responsibilities, the accountant's responsibilities, and the limitations of the en-
gagement. In some cases, the accountant may establish such understanding
with those charged with governance.

.04 An understanding with management and, if applicable, those charged
with governance regarding a review of financial statements should include the
following matters:

® The objective of a review is to obtain limited assurance that there
are no material modifications that should be made to the financial
statements in order for the statements to be in conformity with
the applicable financial reporting framework.

® Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presenta-
tion of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable
financial reporting framework.

® Management is responsible for designing, implementing, and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements.

® Management is responsible to prevent and detect fraud.

® Management is responsible for identifying and ensuring that the
entity complies with the laws and regulations applicable to its
activities.

® Management is responsible for making all financial records and
related information available to the accountant.

® Management will provide the accountant, at the conclusion of the
engagement, with a letter that confirms certain representations
made during the review.

® The accountant is responsible for conducting the engagement in
accordance with SSARSs issued by the AICPA.

® A review includes primarily applying analytical procedures to
management's financial data and making inquiries of company
management.

® Areview is substantially less in scope than an audit, the objective
of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial
statements as a whole. A review does not contemplate obtaining
an understanding of the entity's internal control; assessing fraud
risk; testing accounting records by obtaining sufficient appropri-
ate audit evidence through inspection, observation, confirmation,
or the examination of source documents (for example, cancelled
checks or bank images); or other procedures ordinarily performed
in an audit. Accordingly, the accountant will not express an opin-
ion regarding the financial statements as a whole.
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® The engagement cannot be relied upon to disclose errors, fraud,?
or illegal acts.?

® The accountant will inform the appropriate level of management
of any material errors and of any evidence or information that
comes to the accountant's attention during the performance of re-
view procedures that fraud or an illegal act may have occurred.*
The accountant need not report any matters regarding illegal acts
that may have occurred that are clearly inconsequential and may
reach agreement in advance with the entity on the nature of any
such matters to be communicated.

These matters should be communicated in the form of an engagement letter.
An example of an engagement letter for a review of financial statements is
presented in Review Exhibit A, "Illustrative Engagement Letter."

.05 An understanding with management or, if applicable, those charged
with governance also may include other matters, such as the following:

® Fees and billings

® Any limitation of or other arrangements regarding the liability of
the accountant or the client, such as indemnification to the accoun-
tant for liability arising from knowing misrepresentations to the
accountant by management (regulators may restrict or prohibit
such liability limitation arrangements)

® (Conditions under which access to review documentation may be
granted to others

® Additional services to be provided relating to regulatory require-
ments

.06 The engagement letter also should address the following additional
matters if applicable:

® DMaterial departures from the applicable financial reporting
framework may exist, and the effects of those departures, if any,
on the financial statements may not be disclosed.

® Reference to supplementary information.

Review Performance Requirements

.07 The performance of a review engagement requires that the accountant
perform procedures designed to accumulate review evidence that will provide
a reasonable basis for obtaining limited assurance that there are no mate-
rial modifications that should be made to the financial statements in order
for the statements to be in conformity with the applicable financial reporting

2 For purposes of this section, fraud is an intentional act that results in a misstatement in reviewed
financial statements.

3 TFor purposes of this section, illegal acts are violations of laws or government regulations, ex-
cluding fraud.

4 Whether an act is, in fact, fraudulent or illegal is a determination that is normally beyond the
accountant's professional competence. An accountant, in reporting on financial statements, presents
himself or herself as one who is proficient in accounting and review services. The accountant's training,
experience, and understanding of the client and its industry may provide a basis for recognition that
some client acts coming to his or her attention may be fraudulent or illegal. However, the determination
as to whether a particular act is fraudulent or illegal would generally be based on the advice of an
informed expert qualified to practice law or may have to await final determination by a court of
law.
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framework. The accountant should apply professmnal judgment in determin-
ing the specific nature, timing, and extent of review procedures. Such proce-
dures should be tailored based on the accountant's understanding of the indus-
try in which the client operates and the accountant's knowledge of the entity.
Review evidence obtained through the performance of analytical procedures
and inquiry will ordinarily provide the accountant with a reasonable basis for
obtaining limited assurance. However, the accountant should perform addi-
tional procedures if the accountant determines such procedures to be necessary
to obtain limited assurance that the financial statements are not materially
misstated.

Understanding of the Industry

.08 The accountant should possess an understanding of the industry in
which the client operates, including the accounting principles and practices gen-
erally used in the industry sufficient to assist the accountant with determining
the specific nature, timing, and extent of review procedures to be performed.

.09 The requirement that the accountant possess a level of knowledge of
the industry in which the entity operates does not prevent the accountant from
accepting a review engagement for an entity in an industry with which the ac-
countant has no previous experience. It does, however, place upon the accoun-
tant a responsibility to obtain the required level of knowledge. The accountant
may do so, for example, by consulting AICPA guides, industry publications, fi-
nancial statements of other entities in the industry, textbooks and periodicals,
appropriate continuing professional education, or individuals knowledgeable
about the industry.

Knowledge of the Client

.10 The accountant should obtain knowledge about the client sufficient to
assist the accountant with determining the specific nature, timing, and extent
of review procedures to be performed. That knowledge should include the fol-
lowing:

®  An understanding of the client's business

®  An understanding of the accounting principles and practices used
by the client

.11 In obtaining an understanding of the client's business, the accountant
should have a general understanding of the client's organization; its operating
characteristics; and the nature of its assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses.
The accountant's understanding of an entity's business is ordinarily obtained
through experience with the entity or its industry and inquiry of the entity's
personnel.

.12 The accountant should understand the accounting principles and prac-
tices used by the client in measuring, recognizing, recording, and disclosing all
significant accounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The accountant
may obtain an understanding of the accounting policies and procedures used
by management through inquiry, the review of client prepared documents, or
experience with the client.

.13 In obtaining this understanding of the client's accounting policies and
practices, the accountant should be alert to unusual accounting policies and
procedures that come to the accountant's attention as a result of his or her
knowledge of the industry.
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Designing and Performing Review Procedures
.14 Based on

a. the accountant's understanding of the industry,
b. his or her knowledge of the client, and

c. his or her awareness of the risk that he or she may unknowingly
fail to modify the accountant's review report on financial state-
ments that are materially misstated,

the accountant should design and perform analytical procedures and make in-
quiries and perform other procedures, as appropriate, to accumulate review ev-
idence in obtaining limited assurance that there are no material modifications
that should be made to the financial statements in order for the statements to
be in conformity with the applicable financial reporting framework.

.15 The accountant should focus the analytical procedures and inquiries
in those areas where the accountant believes there are increased risks of mis-
statements. The results of the accountant's analytical procedures and inquiries
may modify the accountant's risk awareness. For example, the response to an
inquiry that cash has not been reconciled for several months may revise the
accountant's awareness of risks relative to the cash account.

Analytical Procedures

.16 Understanding financial and nonfinancial relationships is essential in
evaluating the results of analytical procedures, and generally requires knowl-
edge of the client and the industry in which the client operates. An under-
standing of the purposes of analytical procedures and the limitations of those
procedures also is important. Accordingly, the identification of the relationships
and types of data used, as well as conclusions reached when recorded amounts
are compared to expectations, requires judgment by the accountant.

.17 Analytical procedures involve comparisons of expectations developed
by the accountant to recorded amounts or ratios developed from recorded
amounts. The accountant develops such expectations by identifying and us-
ing plausible relationships that are reasonably expected to exist based on the
accountant's understanding of the industry in which the client operates and
knowledge of the client. Following are examples of sources of information for
developing expectations:

a. Financial information for comparable prior period(s), giving con-
sideration to known changes

b. Anticipated results (for example, budgets or forecasts, including
extrapolations from interim or annual data)

c. Relationships among elements of financial information within the
period

d. Information regarding the industry in which the client operates
(for example, gross margin information)

e. Relationships of financial information with relevant nonfinancial
information (for example, payroll costs to number of employees)

Analytical procedures may be performed at the financial statement level or
at the detailed account level. The nature, timing, and extent of the analytical
procedures are a matter of professional judgment.

.18 If analytical procedures performed identify fluctuations or relation-
ships that are inconsistent with other relevant information or that differ from
expected values by a significant amount, the accountant should investigate
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these differences by inquiring of management and performing other procedures
as necessary in the circumstances. Review evidence relevant to management's
responses may be obtained by evaluating those responses, taking into account
the accountant's understanding of the entity and its environment, along with
other review evidence obtained during the course of the review. Although the
accountant is not required to corroborate management's responses with other
evidence, the accountant may need to perform other procedures when, for ex-
ample, management is unable to provide an explanation, or the explanation,
together with review evidence obtained relevant to management's response, is
not considered adequate.

Inquiries and Other Review Procedures

.19 The accountant should consider performing the following:

a. Inquire of members of management who have responsibility for
financial and accounting matters concerning the following:

i. Whether the financial statements have been prepared in
conformity with the applicable financial reporting frame-
work

ii. The entity's accounting principles and practices and the
methods followed in applying them and the entity's proce-
dures for recording, classifying, and summarizing transac-
tions and accumulating information for disclosure in the
financial statements

iii. Unusual or complex situations that may have an effect on
the financial statements

iv. Significant transactions occurring or recognized near the
end of the reporting period

v. The status of uncorrected misstatements identified during
the previous engagement

vi. Questions that have arisen in the course of applying the
review procedures

vii. Events subsequent to the date of the financial statements
that could have a material effect on the financial state-
ments

viii. Their knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud affect-
ing the entity involving management or others where the
fraud could have a material effect on the financial state-
ments (for example, communications received from em-
ployees, former employees, or others)

ix. Significant journal entries and other adjustments
x. Communications from regulatory agencies

In addition to members of management who have responsibil-
ity for financial and accounting matters, the accountant may de-
termine to direct inquiries to others within the entity and those
charged with governance, if appropriate.

AR §90.19



Review of Financial Statements 81

b. Inquire concerning actions taken at meetings of stockholders, the
board of directors, committees of the board of directors, or compa-
rable meetings that may affect the financial statements

c. Read the financial statements to consider, on the basis of informa-
tion coming to the accountant's attention, whether the financial
statements appear to conform with the applicable financial re-
porting framework

d. Obtain reports from other accountants, if any, who have been en-
gaged to audit or review the financial statements of significant
components of the reporting entity, its subsidiaries, and other
investees®

.20 The accountant ordinarily is not required to corroborate management's
responses with other evidence; however, the accountant should consider the
reasonableness and consistency of management's responses in light of the re-
sults of other review procedures and the accountant's knowledge of the client's
business and the industry in which it operates.

Incorrect, Incomplete, or Otherwise Unsatisfactory Information

.21 During the performance of review procedures, the accountant may be-
come aware that information coming to his or her attention is incorrect, incom-
plete, or otherwise unsatisfactory. In such instances, the accountant should
request that management consider the effect of these matters on the financial
statements and communicate the results of its consideration to the accountant.
The accountant should consider the results communicated to the accountant
by management and the effect, if any, on the accountant's review report. If the
accountant believes the financial statements may be materially misstated, the
accountant should perform additional procedures deemed necessary to obtain
limited assurance that there are no material modifications that should be made
to the financial statements in order for the statements to be in conformity with
the applicable financial reporting framework. If the accountant concludes that
the financial statements are materially misstated, the accountant should fol-
low the guidance in paragraphs .34—.36 with respect to departures from the
applicable financial reporting framework.

Management Representations

.22 Written representations are requ